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The following refers to the Nanogate Group (in accordance with IFRS, figures in EUR ,000)

2012 2011 2010* 2009
Sales from continuing operations 38,219 33,244 15,433 10,703
Overall performance 39,446 35,029 22,669 14,225
Gross profit margin (in %, of overall performance) 66.1 63.0 66.7 67.8
EBITDA 5,645 3,493 5,092 -1,231
EBIT 2,723 991 800 -2,318
EBT 1,409 -311 320 -2,602
Consolidated net income/loss 260 -3,629 1,456 -1,367
Earnings per share (EUR, undiluted) 0.10 -1.68 0.76 -0.72
Balance sheet total 60,641 56,343 54,021 34,322
Equity 33,542 28,070 24,027 21,084
Equity ratio (%) 55.3 49.8 44.5 61.4
Cash and cash equivalents 11,653 8,957 4,067 5,906

Cash flow from continuing operations 4,693 3,084 -626 -1,148
Cash flow from investing activities  

(without external growth) -2,209 -1,739 -2,951 -4,188

Employees (average for the year) 243 234 124 75
Sales per employee 157 142 124 144

Market capitalisation at year end** 64,813 40,998 29,621 39,235
Dividend 0.10 - - -

* Values adjusted for discontinued operations; EBITDA influenced by non-recurring factors.

** Source: Bloomberg



NANOGATE AG – A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES®

Nanogate is a leading international integrated systems provider for high-
performance surfaces. We give materials and surfaces new  properties 
and improve our customers’ competitiveness. Both businesses and 
 consumers benefit from the advantages of multifunctional surfaces.

With expertise and technology from Nanogate,
• surfaces are given new functions.
• production processes become more efficient.
• textiles become more powerful.
• plastics are given new properties.
• heating systems use less energy.

With help from Nanogate, products become more cost-effective, more 
powerful and better for the environment. With a comprehensive tech-
nology portfolio, we open up a new world of surfaces for our customers 
based on new materials. As an innovation partner, Nanogate offers its 
customers unique systems expertise – from materials development to 
mass production.

We add value. For our customers, our shareholders and our employees 
as well as for the environment and society.

A world of new surfaces
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Preface

Letter to shareholders

Dear shareholders, ladies and gentlemen, and staff members,

Nanogate is keeping its word: as forecast, the Group reached a new dimension in the past financial year. 
Never in the history of our company have we been so well positioned in terms of strategy, operations and 
finances. 

As an innovation partner, Nanogate opens up the diverse possibilities of multifunctional surfaces based on 
new materials for companies in a wide range of industries. In other words, we offer “a world of new 
surfaces”. This is the slogan that the Group is now using, together with a new logo (see page three), to 
present itself to the public. It stands for our promise to our customers to always offer systems with added 
value as part of our innovation partnerships and to enhance their products or processes to help them cut 
costs and protect the environment. In short, Nanogate provides surfaces with new functions and, in many 
cases, actually makes it possible for new products to be launched in the first place. 

As a systems provider, we cover the entire value chain, from materials development to process integration 
and the mass production of multifunctional surfaces. We concentrate on the four sectors of automotive/
mechanical engineering, buildings/interiors, sport/leisure and functional textiles as well as on the particu-
larly fast-growing sectors of energy efficiency and innovative plastics. In certain cases concerning highly 
sophisticated optical applications, we also manufacture the plastic components to be enhanced ourselves.
 
Growth market for plastics with glass-like properties 
The past financial year was both successful and eventful. One of the most important steps taken from a 
strategic perspective was the acquisition of an equity holding in the plastics specialist Plastic-Design 
GmbH. With this holding, Nanogate has secured additional technological expertise in the growth market 
for glazing and can therefore expand its leading position in the market for innovative plastics. We also have 
our own production capacities for plastics processing for the first time and are able to manufacture and 
enhance components of the highest optical quality ourselves. This perfectly complements our existing 
expertise and production facilities for coatings. In view of the dynamic market and the progress made in 
the area of glazing, Nanogate increased its equity holding in Plastic-Design from 35 % to 76 %. In the 
meantime, the company started mass production for a major contract from a renowned automobile 
manufacturer in the premium segment. The volume of the contract is in the double-digit million range 
and constitutes the biggest order in the company’s history. 

Another significant strategic development was the sales launch for a new generation of innovative 
energy-efficient coatings for heating systems and the successful start of mass production in autumn 2012. 
The order was placed by one of the world’s leading suppliers in this area and is a testament to Nanogate’s 
strong market position. We also received an order in the double-digit million range in relation to an 
extended strategic partnership with a leading international chemical and technology group. 

The areas of energy efficiency and innovative plastics form the core of the new Advanced Technologies 
segment, while the majority of the traditional systems are allocated to the Base Technologies segment. 
The Group’s new segment reporting reflects its strategic development.

First dividend payment planned
In terms of operations, Nanogate scored top marks again: sales increased by 15 % to a record EUR 38.2 
million, and therefore grew much more than had been anticipated. Our EBITDA margin of around 15 % 
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was within our target range, with EBITDA rising by around 60 % to EUR 5.6 million in spite of 
transaction costs of approximately EUR 0.4 million relating to the equity holding in Plastic-Design 
GmbH. Our earnings were markedly improved by an optimised order and product mix as well as a decline 
in fixed costs. The successful course of business over the previous year is also confirmed by our cash flow 
from operating activities, which rose to EUR 4.7 million. Based on the good operating performance of the 
companies within the Nanogate Group, Nanogate AG’s net income from investments (separate financial 
statements pursuant to the German Commercial Code [HGB]) and the positive outlook for business, the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board of Nanogate AG propose that a dividend of EUR 0.10 per 
share be paid. We would like our shareholders to participate in the company’s success for the first time and 
we would also like to thank them for their loyalty.

Finances strengthened
The Group benefited financially from the good performance as well as from a successful capital increase 
which generated gross proceeds of EUR 4.8 million. Cash and cash equivalents thus rose to EUR 11.7 
million by the end of the year. Liabilities to banks fell to EUR 13.3 million and the equity ratio rose to 
around 55 %. At the balance sheet date, the company had a low debt-equity ratio of 0.3, which offers 
potential for further borrowing and allows the company to maintain a solid balance sheet ratio.

Focus on the next phase of growth
Nanogate intends to continue on its course of growth. We expect the most significant momentum here to 
come from the dynamically expanding market for glazed plastics, which can be used as a replacement for 
glass or metal in many applications. In the automobile construction sector in particular, there is demand 
for innovative plastics with glass-like properties and of the highest optical quality, as these make new 
designs and areas of application possible and also help to reduce fuel consumption and carbon emissions 
thanks to their lower weight. In conjunction with our new equity holding Plastic-Design, we are currently 
building a centre of excellence in order to be able to offer our customers fully integrated systems for the 
development and production of coated components made of transparent and coloured glazed plastics. The 
way that the glazing sector is currently developing, with the largest order in the company’s history being 
placed, confirms our good strategic focus. 

We also intend to achieve substantial growth with systems in the area of energy efficiency. We already 
supply high-performance applications that maintain the energy efficiency of heating systems as stably as 
possible. The strong demand for the energy-efficient coatings developed by us confirms our strategy of 
focusing more on larger-volume projects in order to achieve economies of scale and improve our profit 
margin. In the long term, we want to see cleantech applications and environmentally friendly systems 
accounting for more than 50 % of Group sales. A high level of commitment to the environment and to 
society has been a part of our strategy for a long time. And that’s why Nanogate was also invited to the 
2012 Environment Week held at the German President’s official residence, Schloss Bellevue. At the event, 
we showcased a high-performance surface for fine-particle filters, which we are developing with the 
financial assistance of the German Federal Environmental Foundation (DBU). We are also involved in 
several important organisations that benefit the industry.

In addition to the expected strong growth in the Advanced Technologies segment, our positive business 
performance is also based on our continuously opening up new markets in all of our target markets, 
especially internationally. Nanogate already generates almost half of its sales outside of Germany. For 
 example, we are currently launching new care products in Germany, Austria, Switzerland and the Benelux 
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countries in the scope of a partnership with the renowned sporting goods manufacturer FILA. Following 
the quick and successful integration of the two equity holdings GfO AG and Eurogard B.V., as well as our 
fledgling partnership with our new holding Plastic-Design GmbH, we see further external growth in the 
medium term as another option in order to improve our market position. 

Our recipe for success comprising our market position, capacity for innovation, external growth and strong 
mass production is still valid as it stands. Nanogate therefore intends to further expand its market position 
in the current financial year and to lay the foundations for further considerable improvements in its sales 
and profitability. The Group anticipates that, based on the strong demand, the volume of incoming orders 
will remain high and that sales can once again increase by a double-digit percentage. However, further 
substantial investments are still needed in order to implement the proposed growth strategy and handle the 
orders received. These investments relate, for example, to the creation of the centre of excellence for the 
new application area of glazing, including the corresponding costs for opening up new markets as well as 
integration costs. Despite these expenses, Nanogate ist still expecting a relatively stable operating result 
(EBITDA). In everything we do, we make sure that the measures are suitable for further increasing 
Nanogate’s value in the long term. We aim to lay the foundations for further increases in the share price, 
after the Nanogate AG share appreciated by almost 50 % last year.

At this juncture, we would like to thank our shareholders, who have always been at our side over the last 
few years. Our good business development is down to the employees of the Nanogate Group, to whom we 
also extend our gratitude for their unfailing commitment.

Nanogate AG is virtually unrivalled in terms of its position as an integrated systems provider in the 
growing market for high-performance surfaces. Our growth is founded on our competitive edge, gained 
through many years of experience in development and mass production, as well as on the continuous 
expansion of the value chain. Our business is safeguarded by our strong customer base with ongoing mass 
production activities and our increased order base in the double-digit million range. The considerable 
potential of the Advanced Technologies segment will give the Group’s growth a major boost. We see plenty 
of sales and earnings potential in the long term, and in 2013 we will continue to lay the foundations for 
this to be achieved.

Yours,

Ralf Zastrau (CEO) Michael Jung (COO) Daniel Seibert (CFO)

Ralf Zastrau (CEO)

Michael Jung (COO)

Daniel Seibert (CFO)



Synthesis plant (components)

WITH US, YOU SEE
THE WORLD A LITTLE BIT 
MORE CLEARLY

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Our invisible protective coatings applied to transparent plastics make 
aircraft windows resistant to marks, allow for clearer vision through 
helmet visors and prevent visibility from being impaired by misting.
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Review of 2012: 
A focus on innovative plastics and energy efficiency
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New company for textiles 

and care products

Nanogate increases its 

involvement in the grow-

ing market for functional 

textiles and care products, 

such as for sport and 

leisure articles, by pooling 

all of its activities in this 

area in Nanogate Textile & 

Care Systems GmbH. This 

also marks the end of the 

Group’s restructuring.  

Nanogate AG henceforth 

acts as a central manage-

ment and technology hold-

ing company for its operat-

ing subsidiaries. 

Company dialogue

As an “ambassador for 

Saarland”, Nanogate CEO 

Ralf Zastrau showcases the 

potential of multifunc tional 

surfaces before an audi-

ence of selected represent-

atives from the worlds of 

politics and business. Lead-

ing representatives from 

the Saarland region come 

together to discuss the di-

verse opportunities offered 

by nanotechnology. 

Premiere for energy-

efficient coatings  

Nanogate starts to open up 

the volume market of the 

energy efficiency applica-

tion area, focusing initially 

on energy-saving heating 

systems. For example, a 

high-performance surface 

protects heat exchangers 

from corrosion and prevents 

combustion residue from 

sticking. As a result, the 

appliances can provide a 

constant output for longer.

Building protection in 

demand

The company is awarded 

contracts in the six-figure 

euro range for special 

surfaces for buildings, 

i ncluding for an infrastruc-

ture project in southern 

Germany. Another of 

the orders placed is for 

 Nanogate’s coatings for 

concrete surfaces. In addi-

tion, its material system for 

coating road tunnels is now 

also approved for use in 

Switzerland.  

Major contract in the 

 t wo-figure million range

Nanogate expands its 

strategic partnership with 

a leading international 

technology and chemi-

cal group – a partnership 

which also involves the 

company’s biggest order 

to date. Over a period of 

five years, the Nanogate 

subsidiary Euroguard will 

supply high-quality coatings 

for transparent plastics with 

a delivery volume in the low 

double-digit million range. 

New Chief Financial Officer

Nanogate expands its 

Management Board with 

the appointment of Daniel 

Seibert (43) as its new Chief 

Financial Officer (CFO). 

Clean air in Berlin

Nanogate is the only com-

mercial enterprise from 

Saarland among the 200 

exhibitors invited to the 2012 

Environment Week held 

at the German President’s 

official residence in Berlin 

and hosted by the German 

Federal Environmental 

Foundation (DBU). There, 

the company presents new 

systems for air filtration and 

energy efficiency.

Head-up displays for BMW

BMW is utilising the en-

hancement of head-up dis-

plays, which is particularly 

technologically challenging. 

The coating provides the 

optical components with a 

precise distribution of light 

and an exact reflection. 

The head-up display shows 

important information on the 

windscreen, making driving 

safer.

Follow-on order for  

Land Rover

The premium car manufac-

turer, Land Rover, decides 

to use the headlights 

enhanced by Nanogate 

in another of its models. 

 Nanogate has been produc-

ing high-quality, protective 

de-misting coatings for the 

car manufacturer since 

October 2011. Even in un-

favourable climatic condi-

tions and when using LED 

headlights, no droplets of 

moisture form on the inside 

of the lights. The annual 

sales volume for the order is 

in the six-figure euro range. 

Cooperation with 

 Bertelsmann

Nanogate increases its in-

volvement in the nationwide 

“Companies for the Region” 

network, an initiative set up 

by the Bertelsmann Foun-

dation in 2007. Renowned 

SMEs from all over Germa-

ny are part of this platform, 

which seeks to foster cor-

porate social responsibility 

and enable the companies 

to network in this area. Ralf 

Zastrau, CEO of Nanogate 

AG, becomes a member of 

the board of this newly cre-

ated association. 

Involvement in the region

Nanogate uses innovative 

technology to protect the 

“dragon’s den” in Quier-

schied from vandalism. The 

mural, painted by children 

in a railway underpass in 

Quierschied, where Nano-

gate is based, was restored 

and then, with the assis-

tance of Nanogate employ-

ees and other helpers, was 

coated with 100 kilograms 

of special transparent seal-

ing. The company also sup-

ports numerous projects, 

such as partnerships with 

local schools.

First order for energy-

efficient coatings

Nanogate receives its first 

product enhancement order 

from a leading international 

supplier of heating systems 

and puts its innovative 

energy-efficient coatings 

into mass production. The 

anticipated annual sales 

volume is in the six-figure 

euro range.

Well protected

Two follow-on orders are 

placed for the coating of car 

sunroof motors and black 

boxes for commercial vehi-

cles. The aluminium finish 

electromagnetically pro-

tects the plastic housings. 

Together, these orders have 

an annual volume in the 

high six-figure euro range. 

New equity holding  

Nanogate acquires a 35 % 

stake in the plastics spe-

cialist Plastic-Design. This 

provides Nanogate with 

technological expertise in 

the development and pro-

duction of glass-like compo-

nents made of transparent 

and coloured glazed plas-

tics. For the first time, Na-

nogate has its own plastics 

processing capacities and 

is able to manufacture its 

own components. Nanogate 

increases its equity holding 

to 76 % in January 2013.

Successful capital increase

Nanogate uses a capital 

increase to strengthen its 

capital base and places 

200,000 new shares. The 

gross proceeds of issue 

amount to around EUR 4.8 

million, and the free float 

rises to 43 %.

Product portfolio expanded

In partnership with its sub-

sidiary Eurogard, Nanogate 

opens up new applications 

in the growth market for 

glazing. A newly developed 

de-misting system based 

on environmentally friendly 

products is now being 

deployed by a customer for 

the first time. 

Scratchproof glasses

Nanogate becomes a 

technology supplier to the 

world’s leading manufac-

turer of adaptive glasses. 

Nanogate enhances the 

products made by the Brit-

ish manufacturer Adlens® 

with a scratchproof coating. 

The glasses are sold inter-

nationally and are also dis-

tributed in developing coun-

tries by the aid organisation 

Vision for a Nation® as part 

of an innovative scheme 

that encourages people to 

buy one pair of glasses, and 

donate another.
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The share

The Nanogate AG share appreciated considerably in 2012 and outperformed the key German share indices 
with an increase of 45.9 %. In comparison, the leading German index DAX increased by around 26 % and 
the technology index TecDAX was up 21 % in spite of the international financial and debt crisis and con-
cerns about the global economy. The Entry Standard index, where Nanogate is listed, fell by just under 8 %.

Having started the year at EUR 16.80, the Nanogate share hit its low as early as mid January with 
EUR 15.34, but went on to reach a high of EUR 29.56 in early November. Following the successful 
capital increase, the share price was listed at EUR 24.20 at the end of the year (all Xetra prices). The 
significantly higher trading volume is likewise a reflection of the greater appeal of the Nanogate share: the 
average daily trading volume (across all German stock exchanges) increased to 3,711 shares. The company’s 
market capitalisation increased sharply to just under EUR 65 million at year-end (end of 2011: EUR 41 
million).

The Group continued to engage in intensive dialogue with analysts, investors and journalists in the year 
under review, focusing on the positive business development, the implementation of the growth strategy 
as an integrated systems provider and the opening up of the new application areas of energy efficiency 
and innovative plastics. The focus in November was on Nanogate’s acquisition of an equity holding in 
Plastic-Design GmbH and on the subsequent capital increase. In addition to holding numerous one-on-
one meetings, Nanogate attended well-known capital market conferences such as the Entry and General 
Standard Conference (May), the DVFA’s Small Cap Conference (August), the German Equity Forum 
(November) and the Munich Capital Markets Conference (December). The company shareholders 
approved by a large majority all of the proposals made at the shareholders’ meeting, which was held at the 
company’s headquarters in Göttelborn in June. This included the appointment of Dr Alain Georges as a 
new member of the Supervisory Board, replacing Marc Faber.

In the past financial year, the company improved its financial position and strengthened its investor base. 
Nanogate generated gross proceeds of around EUR 4.8 million by means of a capital increase. The 
transaction involved the placement of 200,000 new shares with renowned investors in Germany and 
abroad for a price of EUR 23.80 per share. Subscription rights were excluded for the cash capital increase 
from authorised capital. Some of the proceeds were used to refinance the 35 % equity holding acquired in 
Plastic-Design GmbH in early November. equinet Bank AG oversaw the capital increase. Following the 
placement in November, the company’s free float increased to approximately 43 %. The largest investors 
still include HeidelbergCapital Private Equity Fund I and BIP Investment Partners. The French investment 
company Alto Invest was also acquired as an anchor investor.

A recommendation to buy the Nanogate AG share is made by Landesbank Baden-Württemberg with a 
target price of EUR 30 (as at 15.1.2013) and by equinet Bank AG with a target price of EUR 29 (as at 
16.4.2013). In April 2013, SMC-Research began coverage of the Nanogate AG share with a buy recom-
mendation and a target price of EUR 31.66. Nanogate intends to broaden its research activities in the 
current financial year. Nanogate voluntarily publishes all of its capital market information not only in 
German, but also in English, and prepares its annual financial statements in accordance with the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Share details

Stock market segment Entry Standard
WKN / ISIN A0JKHC / DE000A0JKHC9
Number of shares in circulation 2,684,485
Designated sponsor equinet Bank AG, LBBW
Share price at start/end of year (Xetra) 16.80 Euro / 24.20 Euro
Share price high/low for the year (Xetra) 15.34 Euro / 29.56 Euro
Market capitalisation at year-end 64.81 Mio. Euro

Source: Bloomberg

The share

As of: 31.1.2013,  
figures rounded
1)   The shareholder in NanoTec
  Beteiligungen GmbH is the 

management of Nanogate 
AG.

Shareholder structure 

 Free float 43,0 %

 NanoTec Beteiligungen
 GmbH1 5,0 %

 BIP Investment Partners
 25,0 %

HeidelbergCapital  
Private Equity  
Fund I 27,0 % 



STAY COOL

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Children need the freedom to let their imagination run wild. 
Our easy-to-clean surfaces can withstand a lot and make 
countless products more efficient.
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Strategy 

A systematic approach provides a competitive edge

First impressions count. And nothing influences the first impression of a product quite as much as its 
surface. In the face of stiff competition, companies in almost every industry make use of multifunctional 
surfaces in order to set themselves apart from competitors, to cut costs, contribute to protecting the 
environment or open up new markets. A prime example is the premium manufacturers in the automobile 
construction sector. They use innovative plastics with glass-like properties as a design element in vehicle 
interiors or as a substitute for heavy glass or metal in order to reduce the overall weight and ultimately 
lower the vehicle’s fuel consumption. Innovative coatings, otherwise known as intelligent surfaces, are also 
used in mechanical engineering, aircraft, heating systems and in the area of sport and leisure. According to 
the experts at BCC Research, the global market for nanotechnology is set to reach a volume of just under 
EUR 50 billion by 2017. And market observers forecast that in Europe alone, high-performance surfaces 
will be responsible for up to EUR 800 million in sales in the medium term, with leading suppliers being in 
a position to achieve attractive margins of up to 30 %. As a leading international integrated systems 
provider, Nanogate has several hundred applications that have come off the mass production line many 
thousands of times, making it one of the trailblazers in this market and putting it in a better position than 
most other suppliers.

Nanogate acts as an innovation partner. In general, we are at our customers’ side for many years and are 
continuously playing a part in improving their competitive position. We provide our customers with 
technologically and optically high-quality systems. With our expertise, we make products more efficient, 
cheaper or more environmentally friendly – and in many cases, multiple benefits are achieved. We cater 
for a wide array of substrates, such as metals, plastics and glass, and give them additional properties, for 
example making them non-stick, antibacterial, anti-corrosive or scratchproof. When multiple new 
properties are brought together, typically within an optically high-quality surface, and are integrated into 
the manufacturing process and generate added value, we call this a high-performance surface.

Positioning as a systems provider for a competitive edge
As an integrated systems provider, we offer our customers complete solutions – Nanogate is a one-stop 
shop for multifunctional surfaces. We handle both the purchasing of raw materials and materials develop-
ment as well as process integration and surface production, and in doing so offer our customers a 
full-service package. In the case of highly sophisticated optical applications, we also manufacture the plastic 
components to be enhanced ourselves. To do so, the Group draws on its comprehensive materials expertise 
and its unique technology portfolio of functions and processes that it has built up in the course of an 
innovation drive lasting several years. In addition, thanks to our operating subsidiaries, we also have many 
years of experience in and a broad understanding of mass production, and this guarantees efficient 
production that meets the highest quality standards. This unique positioning as a systems provider and 
innovation partner provides us with an ever-increasing customer base and a stable sales basis.

Strong mass production
In the course of the past financial year, Nanogate once again expanded its market position in all of its 
target sectors, making our vision “Touch us every day” more tangible. Our business activities are now 
divided into the Base Technologies and Advanced Technologies segments in order to bring our reporting 
into line with the Group’s strategic development.

Base Technologies benefits from the opening up of more and more new markets
We again benefited from our established position as a partner to the premium manufacturers in the 
automotive industry. For example, the Group was awarded two high-volume follow-on orders for coatings 
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made of aluminium. The two projects, based on the ELAMET® technology platform, involve the shielding 
of car sunroof motors and black boxes for commercial vehicles. In the area of buildings/interiors, we 
improved the sales potential of our high-performance coating for road tunnels by having it approved for 
use in Switzerland. In addition, several other projects were concluded, including an infrastructure project 
in southern Germany. Our solutions feature a special seal that gives tunnel and building surfaces better 
protection from the elements and makes them easier to clean. In the sport/leisure application area, in 
addition to continuing to open up new markets, we focused largely on the preparations for an exclusive 
partnership with the renowned sporting goods manufacturer FILA, which started this year.

Advanced Technologies as a growth driver 
In addition to the continual expansion of its market position in the four established target sectors, 
Nanogate believes that there is a great deal of growth potential in innovative plastics, such as those with 
glass-like properties (glazing), and in energy efficiency applications.

With its equity holding in the plastics specialist Plastic-Design GmbH, the Group has boosted its 
technology expertise in the dynamic market for glazing systems. Transparent and coloured glazed plastics 
can replace glass and metal in many applications and also make new products possible. Nanogate sees 
significant sales potential in the automotive sector in particular, especially in terms of new design elements, 
such as a high-gloss piano-black finish. In addition, market observers are forecasting that up to 20 % of car 
windows could be made of plastic by 2020. In total, the application areas relevant to Nanogate could 
generate sales in the three-figure million range. Nanogate and Plastic-Design are presently constructing a 
centre of excellence in order to offer customers comprehensive service, from development through to 
production. Thanks to this new equity holding, the Group is now also able to make its own components 
and has therefore extended its value chain. All of the Group companies complement each other perfectly 
with their respective expertise and in their sales and production activities. Even before Nanogate acquired 
this equity holding, its subsidiary GfO AG had worked in partnership with Plastic-Design GmbH to 
enhance plastic components with a multifunctional surface. Our extended strategic partnership with a 
leading international chemical and technology group is a further testament to our technological advantage 
in processing innovative plastics with glass-like properties and comprises the biggest order in the company’s 
history. The order has a delivery volume in the low double-digit million range over a period of five years.

Nanogate clinched its first order for the supply of energy-efficient coatings for heat exchangers, thereby 
achieving the breakthrough in a market where global sales of considerably more than EUR 100 million per 
year can be achieved. We are responsible for materials development and manufacture as well as the ongoing 
mass production, and we believe that our technology has revenue potential in the seven-figure euro range 
over the medium term. Our coating ensures that the efficiency of an enhanced heat exchanger stays 
constant over a long period, as well as considerably extending maintenance and cleaning intervals and the 
total useful life of the heating system. The high-performance surface protects light metals such as alumini-
um from corrosion and prevents combustion residue from sticking. By comparison, in conventional 
systems, aggressive exhaust fumes pollute the heating system with advancing usage and cause aluminium 
heat exchangers to corrode. Heat transfer therefore deteriorates and the heating system’s energy efficiency 
drops. By contrast, the anti-adhesive function in the coated version ensures that heat transfer is largely 
maintained. The heat exchangers are therefore not only more efficient, but also meet higher quality 
standards.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders, 

In the past financial year, Nanogate AG once again expanded its market position and increased its 
coverage of the value chain. In operational terms, the company enjoyed its third consecutive year of 
record sales, at EUR 38.2 million. Based on the good operating performance of the companies within 
the Nanogate Group, Nanogate AG’s net income from investments (separate financial statements 
pursuant to the German Commercial Code [HGB]) and the positive outlook for business, the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board of Nanogate AG propose that a dividend be paid for the first time. 
This step is a testament to the company’s good performance. In strategic terms, the company reached a 
new milestone with its acquisition of Plastic-Design GmbH. For the first time, the Group has its own 
plastics processing capacities. As a result, Nanogate can now also manufacture components for specific 
applications itself, in addition to handling the subsequent coating process. As a leading international 
integrated systems provider, the company will benefit greatly from this expansion of its expertise. At the 
same time, the conditions were created for Nanogate, as an integrated supplier, to comprehensively open 
up the new dynamic market for glazing applications, i.e. plastics with glass-like properties. The Group 
intends to assume a leading position in this market and thus achieve substantial increases in its sales and 
earnings in the medium term.

Consultations within the Supervisory Board and its discussions with the Management Board revolved 
primarily around the Group’s strategic focus, including its acquisition of an equity holding in Plastic-
Design GmbH and the subsequent capital increase. We followed the operational development inten-
sively at all times, and the topics that were regularly addressed, including in discussions between the 
Management Board and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, were the company’s medium and 
long-term strategy, its long-term planning, growth opportunities and the integration of its equity 
holdings, as well as aspects such as corporate financing, liquidity planning, ongoing sales and earnings 
development, risk provisioning and the development of key projects.

In the year under review, there were a total of five Supervisory Board meetings: in Frankfurt am Main 
on 26 April, Berlin on 5 June, Göttelborn on 11 September, Frankfurt am Main on 11 October and 
Perl-Nennig on 12 December. The Supervisory Board was present in full at all of these meetings – the 
members were usually present in person, but in exceptional cases took part via telephone. The Manage-
ment Board was invited to attend each meeting to participate in the consultations. In addition, over the 
course of the year we discussed current issues and developments by means of teleconferences and Web 
conferences, and made decisions by circular resolution so as to satisfy the company’s needs regarding its 
operative ability to act and to fulfil the Supervisory Board’s monitoring duties. We were kept informed 
of the ongoing course of business, the company’s present situation, plans for the future, risk manage-
ment and strategic focus by means of oral and written information, such as monthly reports from the 
controlling department. As a result, the Supervisory Board was able to monitor the company at all times 
throughout the reporting period. 

The provision of this comprehensive information guaranteed that the Supervisory Board was able to 
perform its duties in line with statutory regulations and the articles of association, and to fulfil its role as 
a supervisory body for the Management Board. In view of the comprehensive reports provided by the 
Management Board, we saw no need to make use of the statutory possibility of inspecting the company’s 
documents and accounts. Likewise, there was no need for us to appoint any experts to perform special 
tasks (Section 111 [2] of the German Stock Corporation Act [AktG]).

The Management Board was expanded in the year under review in order to further professionalise the 
company’s organisation and management, and to reflect the increasing volume of business. Since 1 May 
2012, Daniel Seibert has been responsible for finance, controlling and other areas as the new Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO). The rest of the Management Board remains unchanged, with the company’s 
co-founder Ralf Zastrau as CEO and Michael Jung as COO. An Executive Committee was also formed 

Report of the Supervisory Board
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to serve as an internal management and steering committee. In addition to the members of the 
Management Board, it includes the managing directors of the Group’s operating subsidiaries: Gerd 
Leichner (GfO AG), Anthony Lucassen (Eurogard B.V.) and Holger Zytur (Nanogate Textile & Care 
Systems GmbH). The aim of this committee is to make the Group’s internal processes as efficient as 
possible and to accelerate the opening up of new markets as an integrated supplier. Since the sharehold-
ers’ meeting in June, Dr Alain Georges has also been a member of the Supervisory Board, replacing 
Marc Faber. There continued to be two committees within the Supervisory Board in the year under 
review: the Audit Committee, which is responsible specifically for matters regarding the annual financial 
statements, and the Compensation Committee for matters involving remuneration.

The Nanogate share was listed in the Entry Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. As it is 
traded in an unregulated market, Nanogate AG is not obliged to comply with the rules of the German 
Corporate Governance Code for publicly listed companies. The Group nonetheless voluntarily complies 
with some aspects of the more demanding Prime Standard requirements. These include, for example, 
preparing the annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS, publishing all of its information 
also in English and organising at least one analysts’ conference. The company also complies with the 
shorter Prime Standard deadlines for the publication of annual financial statements.

CM Treuhandgesellschaft Regensburg mbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft/Steuerberatungsgesell-
schaft, Regensburg, audited the consolidated financial statements, the Group management report, and 
the individual financial statements together with the management reports for the financial year 2012, 
and issued them with an unqualified audit certificate. The Audit Committee and the members of the 
Supervisory Board received the auditors’ reports in good time and discussed them in detail at the 
Supervisory Board meeting on 24 April 2013. The auditors were present in order to answer the Super-
visory Board’s questions and to present certain findings of the audit in detail. All of the necessary 
documents were thoroughly examined, namely the consolidated financial statements including the 
Group management report and the individual financial statements including the management reports. 
No objections were raised and the Supervisory Board therefore concurred with the auditors’ findings. 
The Supervisory Board concurs with the Management Board’s proposal for the appropriation of profits, 
according to which a dividend of EUR 0.10 will be paid for the first time, thereby allowing the 
shareholders to participate directly in the company’s success. Also at the Supervisory Board meeting on 
24 April 2013, the Supervisory Board approved the consolidated financial statements including the 
Group management report and the individual financial statements including the management reports. 

We would like to thank the Group’s employees and the members of the Management Board for their 
significant and unfailing efforts – it is they who form the foundation for the company’s successful 
development. We would also like to thank our shareholders, customers and business partners for the 
trust they place in us. We firmly believe that Nanogate will successfully continue on its chosen path. 
The Group is focusing on expanding its market position with new solutions and applications, and on 
increasing the value of the company in the interests of all its stakeholders. This is based on its great 
capacity for innovation, its strong financial position and its tried-and-tested business model coupled 
with many years of experience in materials development and mass production. As a leading international 
integrated systems provider, this puts Nanogate in a good position to achieve its ambitious goals.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, 24 April 2013

Oliver Schumann 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board



ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
DOESN’T HAVE TO BE  
A CASTLE IN THE AIR

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Less fuel and cosy warmth at the same time; lower energy  consumption, 
but clean air nonetheless – these aren’t just visions of the future. 
 Nanogate systems already play an active part in conserving resources 
and protecting the environment!
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Group management report

Group management report 2012 for Nanogate AG,  

Quierschied-Göttelborn

1. Business report

1.1. The Nanogate Group’s service profile
  The Nanogate Group (Nanogate) is a leading international integrated systems provider for 

high-performance surfaces. The Group opens up the diverse possibilities of multifunctional surfaces 
based on new materials for companies in a wide range of industries. With its new slogan, “A world 
of new surfaces”, introduced in August 2012, the Nanogate Group reinforces its aspiration of using 
intelligent surfaces to give products a competitive edge and help companies generate additional 
value. It stands for the Group’s promise to be a reliable partner for its customers and to bring them 
cutting-edge technology, rapid implementation and high-quality mass production. 

  Nanogate provides its customers with technologically and visually high-quality systems, equipping 
plastic, metal and other surfaces with new functions and properties (for example, making them 
non-stick, antibacterial, anti-corrosive, scratchproof, chemically stable or protected from exposure to 
the elements). To do so, the Group uses its extensive knowledge of innovative materials, including 
existing expertise in nanomaterials, nanosurfaces and nanostructures, as well as its many years of 
experience in the mass production of enhanced multifunctional surfaces for two and three-dimen-
sional components. The aim is to improve products and processes by means of multifunctional 
high-performance surfaces. This is intended to increase the competitiveness and profitability of 
Nanogate’s customers and to reap environmental benefits. With solutions and knowledge from 
Nanogate, companies can gain a technological advantage over their competitors – and to this end, 
the Group adopts the approach of serving its customers as a long-term innovation partner. 

  As an integrated systems provider, the company can draw on vast experience and a diverse array of 
skills in materials development as well as in process integration and mass production. It covers the 
entire value chain, from the purchase of raw materials, to the synthesis and formulation of the 
material systems, right through to the enhancement and production of the finished surfaces. 
Since the end of 2012, the Group has also integrated the manufacture of complex glazing systems. 
Nanogate can draw on a comprehensive portfolio of technology platforms and processes when 
developing new applications for various substrates that then go into mass production. Its enhance-
ment of multifunctional surfaces is founded on its extensive expertise in the area of new materials, 
in particular with regard to physical and chemical nanotechnology. Since it began operations in 
1999, Nanogate has formed the central interface between the manufacturers of source materials and 
the suppliers of innovative industrial products, thereby enabling the efficient use of high-perfor-
mance surfaces based on new materials. 

  The Group concentrates on the target sectors automotive/mechanical engineering, buildings/
interiors, sport/leisure and functional textiles as well as on energy efficiency and innovative plastics, 
which are sectors with especially high volumes, profit margins and growth rates. One example of 
this is its glazing systems that involve coloured or transparent glazed plastics with glass-like 
properties. Across all sectors, the Group attaches great importance to developing and distributing 
environmentally friendly systems and cleantech applications, whose share of total sales is set to rise 
significantly in the years ahead. 

  The Group is divided into two segments, namely Base Technologies and Advanced Technologies. 
Base Technologies comprises much of the Group’s existing portfolio of conventional applications, 
such as those in the areas of sport/leisure and buildings/interiors. The Advanced Technologies 
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segment brings together all of the systems in the areas boasting especially strong growth and which 
have now been the focus of the Group’s activities for a number of years. The Group anticipates 
strong growth and earnings potential in this segment, after having made considerable efforts to 
develop new systems in recent years as part of a broad innovation drive. These include the areas of 
energy efficiency, such as energy-efficient heat exchangers and air filters, and innovative plastics, 
where the focus lies on glazing applications. A large proportion of the Group’s investments have also 
been poured into these areas in recent years, albeit without neglecting the competitiveness of the 
Base Technologies segment.

1.2. The Nanogate Group
  The Nanogate Group consists of the parent company Nanogate AG, based in Quierschied-Göttel-

born, and the consolidated portfolio companies Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH (NIS), 
Quierschied-Göttelborn, GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG (GfO), Schwäbisch Gmünd, 
and Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands, as well as Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH 
(NTCS), Quierschied-Göttelborn. In addition, the Group has had an equity holding in Plastic-
Design GmbH, Bad Salzuflen, since the end of 2012. 

 1.2.1. Nanogate AG
   As a holding company, the parent company Nanogate AG concentrates on the strategic and 

operational management of the Group and its operating equity holdings. Central material 
development and production as well as central functions such as finance, controlling and 
services for all Group companies are also pooled in the management and technology holding 
company. 

 1.2.2. Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH
   Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of Nanogate AG. The 

company concentrates on the industrial implementation of different high-performance 
surfaces and on the market for metal surfaces. The focus is on innovative material systems, in 
particular for energy efficiency applications, process integration and high-quality surfaces for 
the Buildings/Interiors application area. 

 1.2.3. Eurogard B.V.
   In June 2011, Nanogate completed the acquisition of 100 % of the shares in the Dutch 

company Eurogard B.V. The company specialises in enhancing surfaces on two-dimensional 
components and is the global market leader in the lucrative specialist sector of coating 
transparent plastics. Eurogard concentrates on the buildings/interiors, aviation and automo-
tive/mechanical engineering sectors. 

 1.2.4. Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH
   Since 1 January 2012, the existing activities in Sport/Leisure and Functional Textiles have 

been pooled at Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH. The aim is to open up this growing 
market even faster. 

 1.2.5. GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG
   Nanogate AG holds an equity interest of 51 % (with a call option for the remaining shares) 

in Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG (GfO). The company specialises in the technical 
and optical enhancement of complex plastic surface geometries and has an inkjet technology 
that is unique in Europe. 

 1.2.6. Plastic-Design GmbH
   At the end of 2012, Nanogate acquired a 35 % equity interest in Plastic-Design GmbH in 

Bad Salzuflen. The company is one of Europe’s leading plastics processors and has a 
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proprietary technology portfolio for optically sophisticated components. It is also considered 
to be a trailblazer in the growth market of glazing. Among the biggest customers today are 
well-known car manufacturers, mostly from the premium segment. In January 2013, the 
Group increased its equity holding to 76 % and also has an option on the remaining shares 
(see Events after the balance sheet date). Nanogate believes there is major potential for 
growth in the market for glazing applications, in particular in the automotive sector, because 
innovative plastics can replace glass as a material and offer greater scope for designing 
high-quality components. They also allow for a substantial reduction in weight, one of the 
benefits of which can be lower fuel consumption. In glazing, Nanogate anticipates a relevant 
market potential in the three-figure million euro range. 

   A centre of excellence for highly sophisticated glazing applications is to be established at the 
Plastic-Design premises in Bad Salzuflen, and construction work has already begun on the 
new factory building. This centre of excellence will enable Nanogate to offer the integrated 
development, production and subsequent enhancement of transparent and coloured glazing 
components in one location. With this new investment, the Group is expanding its value 
chain and is now able to manufacture its own high-quality, complex plastic components for 
the first time. In the reporting period, this technology company is accounted for using the 
equity method. Subsequent to the increase in the equity holding in January 2013, Plastic-
Design will now be fully consolidated.

  Nanogate Group structure 
  as at 31.12.2012

1.3.  Company management – goals and strategy
  Nanogate is pursuing a long-term growth strategy so that it can continue to improve its good 

market position, both nationally and internationally. Its overriding goal is to increase the value of 
the company. To achieve this, the company is concentrating on four particularly attractive applica-
tion areas as well as on developing new technologies and solutions, primarily in the high-potential 
specialist areas of energy efficiency and innovative plastics, which includes opening up the new 
market for glazing applications – an area in which Nanogate itself is now a manufacturer of 
components. The intention is to gain new customers and distribution partners – if possible, 
internationally active market leaders in their fields – with both existing and new technologies. 
Beyond this, Nanogate’s focus is on further opening up international markets and new areas of 
application, including by means of new equity holdings and joint ventures.

  The potential offered by innovative surfaces based on new technologies and high-end materials, in 
particular nanotechnology, has so far barely been tapped. These markets therefore offer great growth 
opportunities and earnings potential. For this reason, developing new products, acquiring new 
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customers and opening up additional market segments and regions are currently the company’s 
main objectives. This also includes new materials, processes and production methods. 

  With its tried-and-tested business model, a first-class customer base, its positioning as a leading 
international integrated systems provider and its leading expertise comprising a comprehensive set 
of technologies, Nanogate is particularly well placed to considerably improve its competitive 
position on this market, which is worth billions. The Group is increasingly focusing on higher-
volume orders in order to achieve economies of scale and thus generate an above-average increase in 
profitability. As an innovation partner, the company focuses on constantly providing its customers 
with ideas of how to improve their competitiveness through the use of high-performance surfaces so 
as to then retain them as customers in the long term. 

  The Group takes care, as far as possible, to increase its profitability in spite of substantial initial costs 
relating to opening up the glazing application area. Nanogate strives to find a balance between 
investing in growth and optimising its cost structure. The most important control variables are sales, 
gross earnings, EBITDA, EBIT, EBT, cash flow, investments and staff efficiency. In a monthly 
reporting system for the Group as a whole, target-performance comparisons are made and devia-
tions analysed. In addition, control is exercised via qualitative results such as the development of 
new solutions, the acquisition of reference customers, and certifications by customers, suppliers, 
external institutions and companies.

1.4.  The international economic situation 
  The global economy continued to grow in 2012, although there was something of an economic 

slowdown. According to an autumn forecast, the German Council of Economic Experts anticipates 
Germany’s gross domestic product to increase by 0.8 % (2011: 3.0 %), with the low point of the 
economic cycle expected in the fourth quarter of 2012. In its 2013 Annual Economic Report 
published in January of this year, the German federal government expects growth in 2012 to have 
been at 0.7 %. For the global economy, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts growth of 
3.3 % (2011: 3.8 %). An increase of 2.2 % is expected for the USA (2011: 1.8 %), while the euro 
area is likely to have slumped by 0.4 % (2011: 1.4 %).

  The majority of the sectors relevant to Nanogate developed positively in the year under review: 
Germany’s mechanical engineering sector grew 2 % and matched its record production level of 
2008, with EUR 196 billion, according to a statement made by the industry association VDMA in 
mid-December. Sales were steady in the chemical industry, according to the German Chemical 
Industry Association (VCI). German automotive production fell by around 4 % across the industry, 
reported the industry association VDA, but the premium manufacturers, who are of particular 
significance to Nanogate, report rising sales figures and some were anticipating new sales records. 

1.5.  The economic significance of surface technology: market, competition, customers 
  High-performance surfaces based on new materials are a fundamental component of many 

products. Nanotechnology is the established basis for new materials in many sectors. As a cross-
sectional technology, it catalyses technical progress by means of better products or more efficient 
processes, for example. Multifunctional surfaces and nanotechnology thereby equally contribute to 
improving companies’ competitiveness. Accordingly, demand for solutions and applications is, to 
some extent, dependent on the overall economic situation, because a slowdown in the economy can 
make customers more reticent to invest in innovations. 

  Until now, sales of nanotechnology systems and high-performance surfaces have been continuously 
increasing. The main customer industries are medical/healthcare, household, buildings/interiors, 
textiles/clothing, automotive and aviation. Particularly in demand are systems that maintain the 



21

Group management report

value of surfaces (e.g. coatings that protect against corrosion or abrasion), reduce the need for 
cleaning (“easy-to-clean”), have an antimicrobial effect or improve energy efficiency. According to a 
recent study conducted by the US institute BCC Research, the global market for nanotechnology 
will grow to USD 48.9 billion by 2017. Nanogate anticipates an accessible market for its products 
and applications of around EUR 800 million in Europe, while the potential on a global scale is 
thought to be worth billions. 

1.6.  Overview of business results
  Nanogate achieved record sales for the third consecutive year over the reporting period. Sales 

increased by 15.0 % to a new high of EUR 38.2 million. At the same time, the earnings target of at 
least EUR 5.5 million EBITDA was exceeded and an EBITDA margin of around 15 % was 
achieved. This gratifying performance confirms the company’s strong strategic positioning.

  Nanogate made decisive progress in the 2012 financial year and consolidated its position as a 
leading integrated systems provider for high-performance surfaces. Important milestones were 
achieved in all of its divisions, including the market launch of energy efficiency coatings in the 
volume market for heat exchangers as well as the approval in Switzerland of the material system for 
coating tunnels in conjunction with the partner Kapyfract. Nanogate expanded its strategic 
partnership with one of the world’s biggest technology and chemical companies, and this provided 
Nanogate with its biggest ever order to date in May 2012. As part of the order, the Nanogate 
subsidiary Eurogard will supply high-quality coatings for transparent plastics. The delivery volume is 
in the low two-figure million range and the order stretches over five years. In addition, other new 
projects were initiated for renowned automobile manufacturers such as BMW and Land Rover.

  Nanogate took a major step in terms of growth with its acquisition of Plastic-Design GmbH, Bad 
Salzuflen. The new equity holding company is a leading supplier of specialised, high-quality plastics 
processing solutions and is a trailblazer in the production and coating of transparent and coloured 
glazed plastics (glazing). With this equity holding, Nanogate is expanding its technology portfolio 
in the rapidly expanding application field of glazing which has a future market volume in the 
three-digit million euro range, and is also adding to its existing production expertise and increasing 
its own production capacities. As Plastic-Design has already worked with GfO in the past, Nanogate 
will now pool all of its Group-wide expertise, and an integrated centre of excellence for glazing is 
currently under construction in Bad Salzuflen.

1.7.  Sales and earnings position
  Nanogate generated record sales for the third year in a row. Group sales grew more strongly than 

expected in the reporting period, rising to EUR 38.2 million (previous year: EUR 33.2 million). 
The Group improved its market position in all of its application areas. In addition, Eurogard B.V. 
was fully consolidated for the first time. The company’s international business contributed 46 % to 
sales (previous year: 39 %). The overall performance of the Group (sales, changes in inventories, 
own work capitalised plus other operating income) came to EUR 39.4 million (previous year: EUR 
35.0 million).

  Following the conclusion of the innovation drive, which generated numerous new solutions and 
applications, own work capitalised fell to EUR 0.8 million (previous year: EUR 1.1 million). The 
Group will nevertheless continue to open up new areas of application (including new products, 
substrates and functions). It is currently focusing in particular on the areas of innovative plastics 
– primarily glazing – and energy efficiency. Above and beyond its own work which can be capital-
ised, Nanogate also invested in research and development, as reflected by the unchanged R&D ratio 
of around 11 % (previous year: 11 %).
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  Other operating income came to EUR 0.7 million in the reporting period (previous year: EUR 0.7 
million). The cost of materials went up as a result of greater business volumes to EUR 13.4 million 
(previous year: EUR 13.0 million). Changes in the product and order mix caused the cost of 
materials as a percentage of overall performance to rise to 33.9 % (previous year: 37.1 %). The gross 
profit margin increased accordingly to around 66 % (previous year: 63 %). Personnel expenses 
amounted to EUR 13.7 million (previous year: EUR 12.2 million) and the ratio of personnel 
expenses to overall performance came to 34.8 % (previous year: 34.8 %).

Overview of the segments:

Base Technologies Advanced Technologies
2012 2011 2012 2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Segment revenue 16,125 16,979 22,094 16,265
Segment earnings 1,758 1,735 1,589 340
Segment margin  10.9 %  10.2 % 7.2 %  2.1 %

  In the year under review, Nanogate modified its segment reporting in order to bring it into line with 
the Group’s ongoing strategic development. While the Base Technologies segment essentially 
comprises the existing business activities in the area of surface enhancement, the Advanced 
Technologies segment focuses on applications with especially strong sales and revenue potential. 
Base Technologies comprises much of the Group’s existing portfolio of conventional applications, 
such as those in the areas of sport/leisure and buildings/interiors. The Advanced Technologies 
segment brings together all of the systems in the areas boasting especially strong growth and which 
have now been the focus of the Group’s activities for a number of years. The Group anticipates 
strong growth and earnings potential in this segment, after having made considerable efforts to 
develop new systems in recent years as part of a broad innovation drive. These include the areas of 
energy efficiency, such as energy-efficient heat exchangers and air filters, and innovative plastics, 
where the focus lies on glazing applications. A large proportion of the Group’s investments have also 
been poured into this area in recent years, albeit without neglecting the competitiveness of the Base 
Technologies segment. 

  While sales in the Base Technologies segment remained relatively constant, its margin increased to 
10.9 % (previous year: 10.2 %). Based on a substantial increase in sales, there was a much stronger 
improvement in the margin of the Advanced Technologies segment, which rose to 7.2 % (previous 
year: 2.1 %). The company’s focus on rapidly expanding application areas such as innovative plastics 
and energy efficiency is therefore paying off.

  In view of the positive performance and in spite of non-recurring charges, consolidated EBITDA 
improved to EUR 5.6 million (previous year: EUR 3.5 million), thereby surpassing the Group’s own 
expectations. This increase in earnings is the result of an improved product and order mix as well as 
a decline in fixed costs. Despite transaction costs of EUR 0.4 million for its equity holding in 
Plastic-Design GmbH, Nanogate therefore hit the mark of around 15 % in terms of its EBITDA 
margin (previous year: 10.5 %).

  Depreciation and amortisation increased to EUR 3.0 million (previous year: EUR 2.5 million) due 
to the greater volume of business and higher product capacities triggered by the increase in sales. 
Consolidated EBIT came to EUR 2.7 million (previous year: EUR 1.0 million), equivalent to a 
higher EBIT margin of 7.1 % (previous year: 3.0 %). The net financial result improved to EUR -1.2 
million (previous year: EUR -1.3 million), earnings before taxes rose to EUR 1.4 million (previous 
year: EUR -0.3 million) and net income after taxes amounted to EUR 0.7 million (previous year: 
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EUR -0.5 million). Consolidated net income (attributable to equity providers) amounted to EUR 
0.3 million (previous year: EUR -3.6 million). The previous year’s figure was substantially depressed 
by non-recurring extraordinary effects relating to the former equity holding Holmenkol AG. 
Earnings per share improved to EUR 0.10 (previous year: EUR -1.68), based on 2.55 million shares 
on average in 2012. 

1.8.  Assets and financial position
  The Group considerably increased its capital base in the reporting period. The contributing factors 

here included, in equal measure, the sizeable increase in earnings, lower liabilities to banks and a 
successful capital increase. The equity ratio rose sharply to 55.3 % (previous year: 49.8 %). Cash 
and cash equivalents increased to EUR 11.7 million (previous year: EUR 9.0 million) in spite of the 
acquisition of a 35 % stake in Plastic-Design GmbH.

  The balance sheet total rose to EUR 60.6 million (previous year: EUR 56.3 million). Non-current 
assets amounted to EUR 42.8 million (previous year: EUR 40.9 million), while intangible assets 
slipped to EUR 18.1 million (previous year: EUR 18.6 million). Property, plant and equipment 
remained essentially unchanged at EUR 17.1 million (previous year: EUR 17.2 million), but 
inventories fell again slightly to EUR 1.8 million (previous year: EUR 1.9 million). Trade receiva-
bles were unchanged at EUR 3.8 million (previous year: EUR 3.8 million).

  The marked increase in equity to EUR 33.6 million (previous year: EUR 28.1 million) was 
primarily attributable to the gross proceeds of a capital increase in November amounting to around 
EUR 4.8 million as well as to the positive operating result. The capital increase entailed 200,000 
new shares being placed with renowned investors in Germany and abroad for an issue price of 
EUR 23.80. As a result, the company’s share capital increased by EUR 200,000 to EUR 2,678,229, 
equating to 2,678,229 shares. The free float increased to around 43 %. The share capital increased 
further to EUR 2,684,485 (equating to 2,684,485 shares) as a result of new shares from the 
exercising of share options. Taking into account scheduled and additional repayments to optimise 
the financing structure, liabilities to banks fell to EUR 13.3 million (previous year: EUR 15.5 
million). 

  Non-current liabilities amounted to EUR 17.8 million (previous year: EUR 19.9 million) and trade 
payables fell to EUR 1.5 million (previous year: EUR 1.9 million). The company’s debt-equity ratio 
(the ratio of EBITDA to net liabilities) amounts to 0.3 and is therefore deemed to be low – the 
average debt-equity ratio of all MDAX companies is significantly higher, at 3.15. With a ratio as low 
as this, Nanogate has sufficient potential to finance future investments by means of additional 
borrowing and also maintain a solid balance sheet ratio.

  In the year under review, the company’s financial position was shaped by its acquisition of an equity 
holding in Plastic-Design GmbH, as well as the lowering of its liabilities, the successful capital 
increase and a much higher volume of business. Cash and cash equivalents thus rose to EUR 11.7 
million in the reporting period (previous year: EUR 9.0 million). Cash flow from operating 
activities less income taxes improved to EUR 4.7 million (previous year: EUR 3.1 million; from 
continuing operations). Cash flow from investing activities amounted to EUR -4.3 million 
(previous year: EUR -11.7 million), above all due to the company’s new equity holding. The 
previous year’s figure was affected by the acquisition of 100 % of the shares in Eurogard B.V. in the 
first half of 2011. Based on the cash inflow from the capital increase and optimisation of the debt 
capital base, the cash flow from financing activities came to EUR 2.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 13.8 million). In 2011, cash inflow from financing activities was affected by a successful 
capital increase and borrowing in order to finance the purchase price for Eurogard B.V.
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1.9. Appropriation of profits
  Based on the good operating performance of the companies within the Nanogate Group, Nanogate 

AG’s net income from investments (separate financial statements pursuant to the German Commer-
cial Code [HGB]) and the positive outlook for business, the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board of Nanogate AG propose that a dividend be paid for the first time. According to this 
proposal, the sum of EUR 0.10 per share is to be paid.

1.10. Employees
  As at 31 December 2012, the Nanogate Group had 246 employees (previous year: 242). The annual 

average for the number of employees within the Group (FTE) was 243 (previous year: 234). Sales 
per employee came to around EUR 157,000 (previous year: EUR 142,000). At year-end, the Group 
employed seven apprentices (previous year: six). 

1.11. Research and development
  In the period 2008 to 2010 Nanogate carried out a wide-ranging innovation offensive, making 

considerable investments in expanding and filling out the technology and application portfolio. 
The company nonetheless continues to develop new products and systems continually, in order to 
bolster its competitiveness. The focus is on refinements and advancements, especially in the two 
particularly high-potential specialist areas of energy efficiency and plastics. The company made 
significant progress in these areas in 2012. 

  For example, it started the mass production of innovative, energy-efficient coatings for the heat 
exchangers produced by a leading global manufacturer of heating systems. In addition, Nanogate 
added high-end plastics in the rapidly expanding glazing market to its technology portfolio by 
acquiring an equity holding in Plastic-Design GmbH. The R&D ratio came to some 11 % in the 
reporting period (previous year: 11 %). 

  For reasons of efficiency, the company leaves fundamental and applied research to recognised 
research institutes with which cooperation agreements exist, such as the Leibniz Institute for New 
Materials (INM) in Saarbrücken, the plastics technology department of the Kaiserslautern 
University of Applied Sciences, the Test and Research Institute Pirmasens and Oeko-Institut 
Freiburg.

  As a technology company, Nanogate concentrates mainly on developing new systems and applica-
tions. The company has an active patent strategy to secure its competitive pre-eminence and to 
create the conditions for generating licensing revenue. The number of patents in the year under 
review was 95 (previous year: 71), while the number of patents pending was 37 (previous year: 55). 

  The company also attaches great importance to effective systems, error-free processes, high product 
quality and the careful use of scarce resources. Nanogate was a trailblazer in the industry and 
obtained the relevant certificates at an early stage. Its certification under ISO DIN 9001 (quality 
management) and ISO DIN 14001 (environmental management) was confirmed most recently in 
January 2012 and demonstrates the Group’s sophisticated quality and environmental ambitions. 

1.12. Sustainability
  There are always two aspects to sustainability at Nanogate. Firstly, there is the responsible corporate 

governance that takes all of the stakeholders into consideration. And secondly, our products and 
business processes should themselves be an expression of our sustainable business activities. 
Nanogate therefore sees it as a recognition of its efforts concerning sustainability that it was the only 
company from Saarland to have been invited as an exhibitor to the 2012 Environment Week held at 
the German President’s official residence, Schloss Bellevue in Berlin. At this event, the company 
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showcased innovative equipment for fine-particle filters which was developed with funding provided 
by the German Federal Environmental Foundation (DBU). Thanks to Nanogate-Technologie, less 
energy is needed to operate filters in ventilation and air-conditioning systems. The company 
displayed a pilot scheme which is currently being trialled in a road tunnel. Nanogate also contrib-
utes to the sustainable use of scarce resources with its innovative plastics in the growth segment of 
glazing. Thanks to their glass-like properties, these plastics are able to take the place of conventional 
glass in many applications and therefore help to reduce the weight of the products.

  As a leader in the industry, the company has a wide range of commitments and also assumes its 
responsibility for overriding matters. This includes making an active contribution to the debate 
about the sustainability and safety of new technologies. 

  In this context, Nanogate was one of the founding members of the new Deutscher Verband 
Nanotechnologie e.V. industry association at the end of 2011, and is represented on the association’s 
board by Michael Jung, COO of Nanogate. The role of the association is to promote an intensive 
dialogue with all stakeholders. For many years, Nanogate has also been active in various interna-
tional research programmes, including NanoSustain (sustainability assessment of the entire life cycle 
of nanotechnologically enhanced products, launched in 2010) and Nanosafe (safe handling of 
nanomaterials, concluded in 2009). In line with its own ambitious aspirations, the Group follows 
the goal of setting uniformly high quality and safety standards for the entire sector and permanently 
seeking dialogue with the public in terms of the opportunities and risks of nanotechnology.

  Beyond its commitments for the industry, the company is also constantly expanding its product 
portfolio of sustainable systems. As many applications as possible should contribute to minimising 
the use of dangerous substances or reducing consumption of natural resources. For this reason, all 
the systems that contribute to environmental protection or to a conservative, sustainable use of raw 
materials are distributed under the Green Nano brand. 

  The Group also takes part in social and political debates, calling for a confiding dialogue between 
companies and all their stakeholders. For example, Nanogate CEO Ralf Zastrau is involved with the 
Bertelsmann Stiftung in the “Companies for the Region” and “Saarland – a responsible partner” 
initiatives. Nanogate also supports the “Ärzte für die Dritte Welt – German Doctors e.V.” initiative. 

2. Opportunities and risks for future development

2.1. Risk report

 2.1.1. Risk management
   In order to grow profitably, Nanogate takes appropriate, reasonable and manageable risks. 

The higher the potential rewards associated with the risk and the more likely it is to result in 
an appropriate increase in the value of the company, the greater the acceptance of that risk. 
All in all, the aggregate extent of the risks entered into may not exceed the risk coverage 
potential at Nanogate. No transactions of a speculative nature are entered into. The Nanogate 
Group’s risk management is an inseparable part of its value-based management philosophy 
and is integrated into the Group’s management systems. Within the Group, the company 
identifies risks for all material business transactions and processes. The risk situation that can 
be influenced by the Group has not changed materially since the previous year. The risks 
explained below are those that are currently identified. The existence of further risks which 
have not been identified by the Management Board, or the likelihood of whose occurrence is 
estimated to be negligible, cannot be ruled out.
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   Nanogate’s Management Board is confident that the following risks do not endanger the con-
tinued existence of the company either individually or collectively. The market and financing 
risks described here are limited and manageable. External factors, for instance the effects of 
the financial and economic crisis, or natural disasters, are naturally beyond Nanogate’s 
control.

 2.1.2. Risks in Nanogate’s ordinary business operations 
   General economic risks: Demand for high-performance surfaces and services in Germany is 

to some extent dependent on the general economic conditions. Companies’ willingness to 
invest might be adversely affected by a slowdown in domestic demand. In the light of this 
fact, the possibility of demand for high-performance surfaces and innovations based on 
nanotechnology declining to a low level and of investment in new projects “drying up” or 
being postponed cannot be ruled out. 

   Market risks: The attractive growth market for high-performance surfaces could entice 
competitors with a variety of core expertise, such as nanotechnology particle manufacturers, 
special chemicals companies or producers of end products and suppliers of large corporate 
groups, such as automobile manufacturers, to enter the market, which in turn could lead to 
greater competition. However, it is the Group’s opinion that the barriers to market entry for 
new competitors are high, because customers are primarily interested in complete systems 
and expect their technology partners to have mastered both development and mass produc-
tion. In addition, it is possible that the Nanogate Group may no longer succeed in convinc-
ing customers of the value and benefits of its solutions. This could have an effect on sales and 
earnings. Neither can it be ruled out that a tightening of regulatory requirements at 
European level might mean that it would no longer be economically attractive for particular 
suppliers to produce individual source materials. For example, REACH (Registration, 
Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals) is an EU regulation governing 
chemical substances. It is designed to harmonise the previous chemicals legislation in the 
European Union and can have an impact on procurement or sales markets. It can also not be 
excluded that suppliers may no longer supply certain precursors in good time. If the 
Nanogate Group is unable to find alternative solutions in the event of supply shortages or 
regulatory changes this could have adverse effects on its business performance. Certain 
products could no longer be manufactured for example, or additional costs could be incurred 
in procuring alternatives. At the same time, there is a risk that acceptance of nanotechnology 
in general will be insufficient. 

   Default risks: The Group’s customer structure is not yet sufficiently diversified, which means 
that it is dependent on specific sector trends or on individual customers. The company’s 
strong growth should continue to improve its diversification in terms of customers and 
regions. In the financial year 2012, Nanogate generated about 80 % of sales with its 50 
largest customers. However, sales fluctuations due to economic developments in individual 
markets cannot be ruled out.

   Risks from cooperation agreements: Nanogate generates a considerable proportion of its 
sales from its existing customer base and from cooperation agreements. If existing customers 
or cooperation partners decide not to extend their contracts or to reduce the length or scope 
of the contracts, the Group’s operating result could be affected. At the same time, there is a 
risk of cooperation partners not achieving the agreed sales figures.

   Product risks: Since 2000 the company has been one of the first nanotechnology firms 
worldwide to be certified in quality management in accordance with ISO DIN 9001. Since 
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2007, active environmental management has also been practised in line with the high 
standards of ISO DIN 14001. Both audits were again completed successfully in January 
2012. All products were tested and approved by well-known independent institutes such as 
Fraunhofer Gesellschaft and TÜV. Furthermore, the company welcomes, supports and 
actively assists in steps to further clarify potential risks and to improve transparency about 
nanotechnology. The nanomaterials used at Nanogate are processed in liquid form, are always 
embedded in what is known as a binder matrix, and are primarily applied in practice as a 
hardened surface coating. All the investigations currently available worldwide confirm 
unequivocally that based on current findings, nanomaterials permanently embedded in a 
matrix (comparable to a paint or lacquer) throughout their life cycle do not constitute a 
danger to people or the environment. At the same time, however, the possibility of an 
application triggering unknown faults or defects that result in costs, general impairments or 
damage to the company’s image cannot be ruled out. Damages claims from end customers or 
business partners in connection with this cannot be excluded entirely from the Group’s 
considerations, particularly since in certain cases, Nanogate also launches, promotes and sells 
the products on the market itself. The Group has appropriate product liability insurance for 
such cases. 

   Financial risks: The receivables portfolio can involve risks relating to the recoverability of 
receivables in individual regions or subsidiaries. Nanogate counters this risk across the Group 
by implementing strict receivables management.

   Employee risks: The availability of highly qualified employees with high levels of technical 
expertise is an important success factor for Nanogate. Nanogate strives to uphold its 
reputation as an attractive employer in order to safeguard and strengthen these factors. By 
committing itself to recognising technical and managerial potential, Nanogate seeks to secure 
the long-term loyalty of specialist and management staff.

   Investment risks: Nanogate is currently investing heavily in the development of new 
technology platforms, process technologies and additional products, in capacity expansion 
and mass production plants, in opening up new international markets and in new portfolio 
companies. Funds are only committed when the marketing opportunities are sufficient or 
when business plans of portfolio companies have been reviewed for the probability of their 
success and potential profitability. The possibility that product and technology developments 
or portfolio companies might not reach their target figures in terms of sales and earnings 
cannot be ruled out, however. At the same time, it might prove necessary to increase 
investment to reach set targets, leading to temporary impairments of profitability as a result 
of the initial costs incurred. 

 2.1.3. Opportunities for future development
   There is considerable market potential in high-performance surfaces. Nanogate focuses on 

the particularly promising application areas of energy efficiency and plastics. Alone in the 
rapidly expanding market for glazing – i.e. innovative plastics with a glazed finish – Nano-
gate anticipates medium-term sales potential in the three-figure million euro range. In order 
to be able to benefit from these opportunities, Nanogate is constantly expanding its expertise 
and its market position on the basis of its own development work and through external 
growth. In this respect, the company can draw on the leading position of German surface 
technology, with Germany being the world’s top exporter, according to industry association 
VDMA. In 2011, VDMA reported double-digit growth for the industry, and there are 
currently no signs of any reversal in this trend. The industry is dominated in particular by 
environmentally friendly surface technologies. 
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   As they are used in all sorts of sectors, there is believed to be a great deal of potential in 
high-performance surfaces, in particular when based on nanotechnology as a cross-sectional 
technology. High-end materials such as those with nanostructures and nanomaterials enable 
numerous benefits for companies and for private and commercial users: existing products are 
enhanced, production is made more efficient and cheaper or the use of resources is reduced. 
Market observers therefore anticipate a substantial increase in the demand for solutions and 
systems based on new materials. In many cases, innovative nanosurfaces are expected to 
replace conventional coatings. According to the market researchers at Future Markets, Inc., 
around two thirds of the market as a whole relate to the sectors transport (including 
automobile manufacture), mechanical engineering/engineering, buildings, household/leisure 
and textiles. 

   Nanogate focuses its product portfolio on the attractive segment of high-performance 
surfaces – in particular on high-margin sub-markets which are geared towards highly 
sophisticated functions such as energy-efficient coatings and multifunctional transparent 
coatings, as well as on sub-markets requiring special technological expertise, such as inkjet 
coatings. The market volume accessible to Nanogate is expected to be around EUR 800 
million per year. According to Nanogate estimates, the European market for nanosurfaces 
and high-performance surfaces is also set to increase to around EUR 800 million by 2016, 
having already reached a volume of around EUR 250 in 2011. The institute BCC Research 
expects the global market volume to hit USD 48.9 billion in 2017. 

   In view of the industry’s growing demand for complete systems and one-stop shopping, 
Nanogate sees considerable growth opportunities in the market for multifunctional 
high-performance surfaces. As a leading international integrated systems provider, the Group 
is almost unparalleled with its many years of wide-ranging experience and expertise in 
developing materials as well as in integrating processes and production. The Group is likewise 
almost unrivalled in its coverage of the entire value chain, from materials development to 
mass production, in part also including the production of components. 

   Thanks to its positioning as an integrated systems provider, the management expects the 
Group to be able to grow faster than the market for surfaces. Sales potential exists in 
particular in the growing application areas automotive and mechanical engineering, building, 
interiors, sport/leisure and functional textiles. The company sees particular opportunities in 
the market for innovative plastic surfaces in high optical quality, for which the Group has a 
proprietary inkjet coating technology that is unique in Europe and in relation to which it 
also has a competitive edge in the dynamic market for glazing products. The orders received 
last year, especially from the automotive industry, are confirmation that the company is on 
the right track. Nanogate also expects its sales and earnings to be further stimulated in the 
area of energy efficiency, following the start of mass production of a new generation of 
energy-efficient coatings for heat exchangers in 2012.
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3. Events after the balance sheet date

Nanogate increased its equity holding in Plastic-Design GmbH from 35 % to 76 % in January 2013 on 
the basis of attractive market prospects and the progress made in the area of glazing. This went hand in 
hand with a EUR 1.2 million increase in equity at Plastic-Design. The new funds will primarily be 
invested in opportunities for further growth and in enhancing our expertise in the attractive market for 
glazing applications. Nanogate also has an option on acquiring the remaining shares. 

4. Forecast 

The economy is expected to develop positively again in 2013, albeit at a lower rate of growth. The 
German Council of Economic Experts forecasts economic growth in Germany of 0.8 %, while the federal 
government anticipates an increase of just 0.4 %. However, the government expects the economy to 
increasingly gather momentum and is therefore forecasting growth of 1.6 % for 2014. The International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts that global GDP will increase by 3.6 % in 2013, which is a stronger rate 
than in 2012. An increase of 2.1 % is expected in the USA, while the euro area is likely to return to a 
course of growth with a moderate increase of 0.2 %. 

The companies in the sectors addressed by Nanogate are cautiously optimistic: 
The German Chemical Industry Association (VCI) expects to see production increase by 1.5 %, while the 
VDMA, the association for the German engineering industry, is forecasting 2 % growth in its sector. 
Domestic production in the automotive industry will increase by 1 %, according to industry association 
VDA, although Nanogate believes that the premium manufacturers will fare better than the high-volume 
brands. Private consumption is likely to increase slightly in 2013, according to market research institute 
GfK.

Nanogate intends to further expand its market position in the current financial year and to lay the 
foundations for further considerable improvements in its sales and profitability. The Group expects that 
the volume of incoming orders will remain high. Its new projects include, for example, an exclusive 
partnership with the sporting goods manufacturer FILA, numerous orders from renowned car manufac-
turers in the premium segment and the start of mass production of energy-efficient coatings for use in 
heat exchangers. In particular, the Group is anticipating major growth from applications in the area of 
energy efficiency as well as from cleantech systems and environmentally friendly applications. Nanogate is 
also focusing on the development, production, enhancement and sale of innovative plastics, especially in 
the area of glazing applications, for which the Group is constructing an integrated centre of excellence in 
2013 in order to open up more new markets. Nanogate expects these areas, which fall within the remit of 
the Advanced Technologies segment, to deliver the greatest increases in sales and earnings. As in the past, 
the company will continue to focus on growth by means of further equity holdings and collaboration 
with international partners.

Thanks to the strong demand, a growing order base and the first-time consolidation of Plastic-Design 
GmbH, Nanogate expects its sales to once again increase by a double-digit percentage figure in the 
current year. However, further substantial investments are still needed in order to implement the 
proposed growth strategy and handle the orders received. These investments relate, for example, to the 
creation of the centre of excellence for the new application area of glazing, including the corresponding 
costs for opening up new markets as well as integration costs. Despite these expenses, Nanogate is still 
expecting a relatively stable operating result (EBITDA). 
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With a view to further increasing its professionalism, communicating with new investors and improving 
its transparency, Nanogate is examining the possibility of switching to the Regulated Market of the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange and, if necessary, will take initial steps towards this. The Group intends to start 
reaping the rewards in 2014 of all the steps it has taken to expand its market position. Nanogate also 
benefits from its tried-and-tested business model. Continuing cash inflow is secured by ongoing mass 
production for its first-class clientele and its broad focus on four sectors as well as additional growth areas 
such as energy efficiency and innovative plastics.

Nanogate can boast attractive technologies and high-performance applications as well as an established 
sales force and promising collaborations with international partners. As a leading international integrated 
systems provider with a considerable edge in terms of its expertise, Nanogate is well positioned to quickly, 
efficiently and profitably open up the high-volume, high-margin and rapidly expanding market for 
multifunctional high-performance surfaces based on new materials. In the long term, the Group believes 
it has considerable revenue and earnings potential, and is creating the conditions required to exploit this 
potential in the 2013 financial year.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, April 2013

Ralf Zastrau Michael Jung Daniel Seibert 
Chairman of the  Member of the Member of the
Management Board/CEO Management Board/COO Management Board/CFO
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Consolidated income statement of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012

Note
2012 2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 
Sales 3 38,219 33,244
Change in finished goods and work in progress -214 25
Other own work capitalised 4 768 1,085
Other operating income 5 673 675
Cost of materials 6 -13,365 -12,978
Personnel expenses 7 -13,737 -12,188
Other operating expenses 8 -6,699 -6,370
EBITDA 5,645 3,493
Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation  
of property, plant and equipment 9 -2,922 -2,502
EBIT 2,723 991
Financial income 10 21 87
Financial expenses 11 -1,250 -1,389
Result from investments accounted for using the equity method 12 -85 -
EBT 1,409 -311
Income taxes 13 -667 -140
Net income/loss after taxes from continuing operations 742 -451
Net income/loss after taxes from discontinued operations 14 - -2,911
Net income/loss attributable to non-controlling interests 15 -482 -267

Net income/loss attributable to equity providers  
(consolidated net income/loss) 260 -3,629

Earnings per share (EUR) 16
Earnings per share (basic) 0.10 -1.68

of which from continuing operations 0.10 -0.49
of which from discontinued operations 0.00 -1.20

Earnings per share (diluted) 0.10 -1.67
of which from continuing operations 0.10 -0.48
of which from discontinued operations 0.00 -1.19

Weighted average no-par-value bearer shares 

Basic 2,501,752 2,165,531
Diluted 2,546,118 2,172,078
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012

Note
2012 2011

EUR ,000  EUR ,000 
Net income/loss after taxes 742 -3,362

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 15 482 267
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG 260 -3,629

Changes in the amount recognised in equity from
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment - -
Cash flow hedges - -
Financial assets available for sale - -
Actuarial gains and losses from defined-benefit 
pension commitments and similar obligations

 
-

 
-

Foreign currency translation - -
Other changes in value recognised in equity - -
Total changes in value recognised in equity - -

of which attributable to non-controlling interests - -
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG - -

Total of net income/loss after taxes and 
changes in value recognised in equity 742 -3,362

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 482 267
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG 260 -3,629
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Consolidated statement of financial position of Nanogate AG

as at 31 December 2012

Assets Note
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
EUR ,000  EUR ,000  

Non-current assets  

Intangible assets 17 18,140 18,592
Property, plant and equipment 18 17,102 17,172
Investments accounted for using the equity method 12 3,231 -
Trade receivables 22 - 10
Financial assets 19 47 1,065
Other assets 15 19
Deferred tax assets 20 4,328 4,089

42,863 40,947
Current assets  

Inventories 21 1,762 1,917
Trade receivables 22 3,830 3,776
Financial assets 23 32 85
Other assets 24 499 636
Income tax receivables 2 25
Cash and cash equivalents 25 11,653 8,957

17,778 15,396
60,641 56,343

Equity and liabilities Note
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
EUR ,000  EUR ,000  

Equity 26 

Subscribed capital 2,684 2,478
Capital reserves  17,181 12,468
Retained earnings 1,460 1,649
Consolidated balance sheet result 9,596 9,336
Non-controlling interests  2,621 2,139

 33,542 28,070
Non-current liabilities
Pension provisions 27 941 754
Provisions 28 354 313
Financial liabilities 29 11,396 13,192
Other financial liabilities 31 1,026 1,005
Other liabilities 32 482 583
Deferred tax liabilities 33 3,578 4,035

17,777 19,882
Current liabilities
Provisions 28 1,397 948
Financial liabilities 29 1,874 2,320
Trade payables 30 1,547 1,868
Other financial liabilities 31 2,071 841
Other liabilities 32 1,757 1,802
Income tax liabilities 676 612

9,322 8,391
60,641 56,343
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated statement of cash flows of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012

Notes
2012 2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 
Earnings before taxes  1,409 -311
Depreciation/amortisation of non-current assets 2,922 2,502
Increase in provisions 663 542
Loss from the disposal of non-current assets 27 83
Net income/loss attributable to associated equity holdings 85 -
Other non-cash income and expenses 386 105
Decrease/increase in inventories, trade receivables and other 

assets that cannot be allocated to investing or financing 
activities 394 -1,963

Decrease/increase in trade payables and other equity and 
liabilities that cannot be allocated to investing or 
financing activities -168 2,418

Subtotal 5,718 3,376
Income tax payments -1,025 -292
Cash flow from operating activities from 

continuing operations 4,693 3,084
Cash flow from operating activities from

discontinued operations - 1,009
Cash flow from operating activities 4,693 4,093
Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 62 -
Payments for investments in intangible assets -472 -1,006
Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment -1,699 -633
Payments for investments in financial assets -100 -100
Payments for the acquisition of associated equity holdings -2,101 -
Payments from the acquisition of consolidated companies - -9,960
Cash flow from investing activities from 

continuing operations -4,310 -11,699
Cash flow from investing activities from 

discontinued operations - -316
Cash flow from investing activities -4,310 -12,015
Shareholder payments from capital increases 4,787 8,025
Proceeds from the raising of loans - 16,985
Payments from the redemption of loans -2,322 -11,114
Payments from the redemption of finance lease liabilities -182 -129
Cash flow from financing activities from 

continuing operations 2,283 13,767
Cash flow from financing activities from

discontinued operations - -777
Cash flow from financing activities 2,283 12,990
Change in cash and cash equivalents from

continuing operations 2,666 5,152
Change in cash and cash equivalents from

 from discontinued operations - -84
Changes in cash and cash equivalents caused by changes 

in the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements 30 -178

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 8,957 4,067
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 25 11,653 8,957
Interest income payments1) 11 19 24

Interest expense payments1) 12 -813 -767

Dividends paid/received - -

1) from continuing operations
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Consolidated statement of changes in equity of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Consolidated 
balance sheet 

result

Parent 
company 
interests

Non-control-
ling interests

Consolidated 
equity

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 
As at 1.1.2011 1,905 14,827 1,649 2,688 21,069 2,958 24,027
Capital increases by issuance 

of new shares 573 7,888 - - 8,461 - 8,461
Change in Group companies / 

companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements
Disposal of minority interest 
due to change of status - - - - - -1,086 -1,086

Transfer from capital reserves 
to offset losses - -10,277 - 10,277 - - -

Share options granted - 30 - - 30 - 30
Consolidated net income/loss 2011 - - - -3,629 -3,629 267 -3,362
As at 1.1.2012 2,478 12,468 1,649 9,336 25,931 2,139 28,070
Capital increases by issuance 

of new shares 206 4,639 - - 4,845 - 4,845
Change in Group companies / 

companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements
First-time consolidation of 
subsidiaries not previously 
consolidated for reasons of 
materiality - - -189 - -189 - -189

Share options granted - 74 - - 74 - 74
Consolidated net income/loss 2012 - - - 260 260 482 742
As at 31.12.2012 2,684 17,181 1,460 9,596 30,921 2,621 33,542
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ALSO SUITABLE
FOR KITTY CATS

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Nanogate enhances your products and increases their value with 
 coatings that are resistant to scratches – in cars, on furniture or in 
industry.
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A. Principles of the consolidated financial statements

General information

The consolidated financial statements for Nanogate AG as at 31 December 
2012 have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) drawn up by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) in London and the interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) in 
effect on the reporting date and endorsed by the European Union (EU).

Nanogate AG is registered in Germany at Zum Schacht 3, 66287 
Quierschied-Göttelborn. Nanogate AG’s shares are included in open 
market trading and in the Entry Standard segment of such trading on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The object of Nanogate AG as specified in its articles of association is, in 
particular, the development, production and selling of chemical products; 
the enhancement, sale and/or contract processing of prefabricated and/or 
semi-finished products; the provision of advice and material engineering 
services in the above areas; and the administration and licensing of 
trademark rights and/or expertise. 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending on 
31 December 2012 in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU are 
solely intended for public information. They were approved for publication 
by a resolution of the Management Board on 12 April 2013. 

The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in euros. Unless 
otherwise specified, all amounts are in thousands of euros (EUR ,000). 

1. Legal principles of presentation

Nanogate AG’s listing in the Entry Standard segment of the German Stock 
Exchange in Frankfurt obliges the company to publish audited consolidated 
financial statements, including a Group management report, in accordance 
with either the prevailing national accounting standards or International 
Financial Reporting Standards, no later than six months after the reporting 
period ends. The Management Board of Nanogate AG has resolved to 
prepare the consolidated financial statements solely in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

The accounting and measurement methods used in the consolidated 
financial statements comply with the mandatory standards and interpreta-
tions applicable as at 31 December 2012. The standard applicable for the 
first time in 2012 had no significant effect on the Group’s assets, financial 
and earnings position.

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

IFRS 7 Amendments to: Improved Disclosures on 
Transfers of Financial Assets

Yes 1.7.2011

Based on: Endorsement Status Report dated 18 February 2013  

The amendments to IFRS 7 expand the scope of disclosures on transactions 
involving the transfer of financial assets. The amendments are intended to 
make risk exposure more transparent in cases where financial instruments 
are being transferred but the transferring party remains exposed to a certain 
degree of risk from the financial assets.

The following standards and interpretations are instances that have already 
been published by the IASB, but which only became mandatory after 
31 December 2012. 

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

IAS 1 Amendments to IFRS 1 in the course of annual 
improvements

Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IAS 1 Amendments to: Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income

Yes 1.7.2012

IAS 12 Amendment to: Deferred taxes: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets

Yes 1.1.2013

IAS 16 Amendments to IAS 16 in the course of annual 
improvements

Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IAS 19 
(2011)

Employee Benefits Yes 1.1.2013

IAS 27 
(2011)

Separate Financial Statements Yes 1.1.2014

IAS 27 
(2011)

Amendments to: Investment Entities Planned for 
Q3 2013

1.1.2014

IAS 28 
(2011)

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures Yes 1.1.2014

IAS 32 Amendments to IAS 32 in the course of annual 
improvements

Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2014

IAS 32 Amendment to: Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

Yes 1.1.2014

IAS 34 Amendments to IAS 34 in the course of annual 
improvements

Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IFRS 1 Amendments to IFRS 1 in the course of annual 
improvements

Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IFRS 1 Amendments to: Government Loans Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IFRS 1 Amendments to: Severe Hyperinflation Yes 1.1.2013

IFRS 1 Amendments to: Removal of Fixed Dates for 
First-time Adopters of IFRS

Yes 1.1.2013

IFRS 7 Amendments to: IFRS 9 Transition Disclosures Postponed 1.1.2015

IFRS 7 Amendment to: Disclosures: Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities

Yes 1.1.2013

IFRS 7 Amendments to: Improved Disclosures on 
Transfers of Financial Assets

Yes 1.7.2011

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Postponed 1.1.2015

IFRS 9 Amendments to: Mandatory Effective Date Postponed 1.1.2015

IFRS 10*) Consolidated Financial Statements Yes 1.1.2014

IFRS 10 Amendments to: Transition Guidance Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IFRS 10 Amendments to: Investment Entities Planned for 
Q3 2013

1.1.2014

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Yes 1.1.2014

IFRS 11 Amendments to: Transition Guidance Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IFRS 12 Disclosures on Interests in Other Entities Yes 1.1.2014

IFRS 12 Amendments to: Transition Guidance Planned for 
Q1 2013

1.1.2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement Yes 1.1.2013

IFRS 12 Amendments to: Investment Entities Planned for 
Q3 2013

1.1.2014

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine

Yes 1.1.2013

Based on: Endorsement Status Report dated 18 February 2013  

*) Voluntary early application for financial statements as of 31.12.2012 – option was not exercised

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2012
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The amendment to IAS 1 results in changes in the presentation of items of 
other comprehensive income. Consequently, the presentation of other 
comprehensive income is also to show interim totals for items based on 
whether said items will subsequently potentially be reclassified as profit or 
loss. IAS 1 is currently not expected to have a significant effect on the 
Group’s net assets, financial and earnings position or on its presentation.

The amendments to IAS 19 do away with the corridor method. All changes 
in defined-benefit obligations and in plan assets are therefore to be 
recognised directly in profit or loss in the future. At the same time, all 
actuarial gains and losses are to be recognised directly in other comprehen-
sive income. The amendments also result in a new format for presenting 
defined-benefit obligations and plan assets as well as new and revised 
disclosures. The changes to IAS 19 are applicable at the latest to financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IAS 19 is currently not 
expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s net assets, financial and 
earnings position or on its presentation.

The amendments to IFRS 9 adopted in 2009 include new rules for 
classifying and measuring financial assets. Other new rules for classifying 
and measuring financial liabilities were published in November 2010. All 
recognised financial assets falling within the scope of IAS 39 are held either 
at amortised cost or at fair value. All equity instruments covered by IFRS 9 
must be held in the balance sheet at fair value.

In contrast to IAS 39, IFRS 9 has no obligation to separate embedded 
derivatives from financial assets. Application of the standard is mandatory 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The effects of 
IFRS 9 on the Group’s net assets, financial and earnings position and on its 
presentation are currently being, and are continually, reviewed.

IFRS 10 replaces the rules on consolidated financial statements in IAS 27 
and establishes the principle of control as a uniform approach. According to 
IFRS 10, control depends on all the following three criteria being met: (a) a 
company must have power over the investee; (b) it must have exposure or 
rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee and (c) the 
ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of these returns. 
IFRS 10 is currently not expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s 
net assets, financial and earnings position or on its presentation.

IFRS 12 combines disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint ventures, 
associated companies and/or non-consolidated structured entities in a 
comprehensive standard. Many of these disclosures have been taken from 
IAS 27, IAS 31 or IAS 28, whereas others have been added for the first time. 
IFRS 12 will result in a larger volume of Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements of Nanogate AG.

IFRS 13 introduces a comprehensive framework for measuring the fair 
value of financial and non-financial items. The standard defines the concept 
of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires a 
number of disclosures concerning the measurement of fair value. IFRS 13 is 
applicable to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 13 
is currently not expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s net 
assets, financial and earnings position or on its presentation.

Based on current assessments, all the other new or amended IFRS standards 
shown in the table above have no relevance for the Nanogate Group.

The Group has not voluntarily adopted any of the aforementioned new or 
amended standards ahead of time.

2. Accounting and measurement principles

General principles

The most important accounting and measurement methods applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements can be found below. 
Unless stated otherwise, the methods described were all applied to the 
reporting periods presented.

In the financial year 2012, there was an exception to the presentation of 
repayments relating to finance lease liabilities. These were recognised under 
cash flow from financing activities for the first time in 2012. To enable 
comparison with the previous year’s figures, the income statement for the 
previous year was amended accordingly.

The separate financial statements of Nanogate AG and those of its domestic 
and foreign subsidiaries have been prepared on the basis of uniform 
accounting and measurement principles. 

IAS 1 stipulates that in balance sheet presentation, a distinction is made 
between non-current and current assets and between non-current and 
current liabilities. Assets, liabilities and provisions are regarded as current 
when they can be realised, or fall due, within one year. The income 
statement was prepared using the total cost method. In cases where the 
balance sheet and income statement items are combined to improve the 
clarity of presentation, they are reported separately in the Notes. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical 
acquisition and production costs. Other measurement concepts are applied 
wherever permitted or stipulated by the IFRS; special mention is made of 
these in the following remarks on the measurement of asset items and 
equity and liability items.

The most important accounting and measurement methods are explained 
below.

Consolidation principles

In addition to the parent company, the consolidated financial statements 
include all the subsidiaries in which the company exercises the majority of 
the voting rights or control either directly or indirectly if their influence on 
the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group is of material 
significance.

The reporting date for Nanogate AG and the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements is 31 December 2012. 

If required, the annual financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted 
for the accounting and measurement methods applied in the Group.

The capital consolidation is carried out using the purchase method. This 
involves setting off the acquisition costs of the acquired shares against the 
revalued pro rata equity attributable to the parent company. In the process, 
the assets, liabilities and contingencies of the acquired equity holding must 
be stated at their respective fair values. Any remaining positive difference 
must be reported as an asset, recognised at cost as at the acquisition date 
and subjected to an annual impairment test; any remaining negative 
difference is recorded immediately in profit and loss in the consolidated 
financial statements after the measurements have been checked again.

Acquisition-related costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
Receivables, liabilities and provisions, income and expenses, as well as 
intermediate intra-Group gains and losses are eliminated within the 
framework of debt consolidation or expense and earnings consolidation.
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Minority interests in the equity and in the results of the subsidiaries are 
shown under non-controlling interests. The minority interests consist of the 
amount of such interests on the date of the original business combination 
and the minority interest in the change in equity as from the time of the 
business combination.

Group companies and companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements

Group companies

In addition to Nanogate AG as parent company, the following companies 
belong to the Group as per 31 December 2012:

Share of 

capital

Equity Net 

income/

loss

Consoli-

dation

in %  EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000

Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, 

Quierschied-Göttelborn 100.00 4,318 -382 full

GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, 

Schwäbisch Gmünd 51.00

 

6,466

 

985

 

full

Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, Netherlands 100.00 4,499 1,731 full

Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH 

(formerly FNP GmbH),  

Quierschied-Göttelborn 100.00 1,393 -198 full

Companies included in the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göt-
telborn, as at 31 December 2012 include, in addition to the parent 
company, Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, 
Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, GfO 
Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd, and 
Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands, by way of full consolidation.

Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn, holds 100.0 % of the voting rights 
in Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Nanogate Textile & Care Systems 
GmbH and Eurogard B.V. Nanogate holds an equity interest of 51.0 % in 
GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG.

Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, was 
consolidated for the first time as at the balance sheet date 31 December 
2006. The date on which capital was offset for the first-time consolidation 
of this subsidiary was 1 January 2006. The equity holding in Nanogate 
Industrial Solutions GmbH was increased from 55.5 % to 100.0 % in the 
course of the 2008 financial year.

Nanogate AG acquired a 51.0 % stake in GfO Gesellschaft für Ober-
flächentechnik AG (GfO AG for short) in Schwäbisch Gmünd as part of a 
larger transaction. The purchase was completed in several stages. The final 
tranche of the entire transaction was completed in 2011 as part of an equity 
increase for subscription in kind, in connection with authorised capital. 
As from 1 September 2010, Nanogate AG had a controlling influence over 
GfO AG. The date on which capital was offset for the first-time consolida-
tion of this subsidiary was therefore 1 September 2010. As part of the larger 
transaction, it was also agreed that Nanogate AG could acquire a further 
49.0 % of the shares in GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, 
Schwäbisch Gmünd, via a call option. Conditions precedent were agreed for 
the purchase.

In June 2012, Nanogate AG acquired 100.0 % of the shares in Eurogard 
B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands. The date on which capital was offset for the 
first-time consolidation of this subsidiary was 1 July 2011. 

Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH (formerly FNP GmbH), 
Quierschied-Göttelborn, was founded in November 2008. This subsidiary 
has not been consolidated thus far as it is of minor overall significance for 
the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group. With a division of 
Nanogate AG having been incorporated into Nanogate Textile & Care 
Systems GmbH (NTCS) effective 1 January 2012, for reasons of material-
ity, NTCS became subject to mandatory consolidation as of this date.

Shares in associated companies

An associated company is one over which the Group has a significant 
influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant 
influence is the ability to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee. It is to be distinguished from control and from 
joint control of financial and operating policy.

Equity holdings accounted for under the equity method are recognised at 
cost as of the acquisition date. The principles of purchase price allocation 
that apply to full consolidation are applied accordingly to the first-time 
measurement of the difference between acquisition cost and the proportion-
ate interest in the company.

In subsequent periods the carrying amount will be increased or reduced by 
changes in the equity of the associate attributable to Nanogate AG.

Intermediate gains and losses from sales between Group companies and 
those accounted for using the equity method are eliminated up to the 
carrying amount.

In December 2011, the equity holding in Holmenkol AG, Ditzingen, was 
reduced to 50 % less one share. As at the 2011 balance sheet date, the 
holding was accounted for using the equity method. With the departure of 
the previous Management Board with effect from 1 January 2012, 
Nanogate AG became unable to exert a significant influence on Holmenkol 
AG. From this time on, important decisions were made without Nanogate 
AG being notified or giving its approval, and the expedient measures for the 
restructuring of the portfolio company were no longer possible; recognition 
according to the equity method is therefore not an option.

Nanogate AG acquired a 35 % equity holding in Plastic-Design GmbH, 
Bad Salzuflen, on 19 October 2012. The validity of surrendering of these 
shares was subject to individual conditions precedent, the fulfilment of 
which was confirmed by the closing memorandum dated 9 November 2012. 
The equity holding will be incorporated into the consolidated financial 
statements according to the equity method as of 31 December 2012.

Discontinued operations (HOLMENKOL AG)

HOLMENKOL AG was an independent cash-generating unit within the 
Nanogate Group. It was therefore considered to be a disposal group as 
defined in IFRS 5, to which clearly defined cash flows are attributed for 
operating and accounting purposes. As a result of the disposal of shares in 
the previous year, which led to the loss of the majority interest, HOLMEN-
KOL AG was presented in the income statement as a discontinued 
operation in line with IFRS 5. This separate presentation of the previous 
year’s figures includes current earnings for HOLMENKOL AG as well as 
the result of the valuation and/or disposal of the discontinued operations. 
For details of the result of discontinued operations we refer to the 
comments in B. 14.
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recoverable value of the goodwill is reviewed in a single-step process 
conducted at the level of the cash-generating unit to which it is assigned.

During the impairment test, the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
unit is compared with its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount, the value is impaired and must be written 
down. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is either its fair 
value less costs to sell or its value in use, whichever is the higher. At the 
Nanogate Group, the discounted cash flow method is used during 
impairment testing to calculate value in use.

Should the reasons for a prior goodwill impairment cease to exist, the value 
may not be written back.

If the present value of the identified assets, liabilities and contingencies of 
the acquired entity exceeds the acquisition costs of the business combina-
tion after a further assessment (negative goodwill), the surplus is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Annual impairment testing in the 2012 financial year revealed that there 
was no need to write down any goodwill (2011: EUR 67,000). 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is valued at historical acquisition or 
production less depreciation. Acquisition or production costs include the 
expenses directly attributable to the acquisition.

Land and buildings are recognised at their fair value less accumulated 
depreciation for buildings. This valuation is reviewed by external experts at 
appropriate regular intervals in order to ensure that the carrying amount 
does not excessively diverge from the value that would be calculated on the 
basis of the fair value at the reporting date.

The acquisition costs of property, plant and equipment acquired as part of 
business combinations is equal to their fair value at the time of their 
acquisition.

Subsequent acquisition or production costs are only considered to be part of 
an asset’s acquisition or production cost if it is likely that the Group will 
receive an economic benefit in the future as a result of said costs and if the 
asset’s costs can be reliably determined.

The following economic useful lives formed the basis for determining the 
depreciation:

Years

Outside facilities 6 - 13

Operating facilities 5 - 13

Buildings on own land 10 - 50

Buildings on third-party land 5 - 13

Technical equipment and machinery 3 - 20

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 3 - 15

Equipment from finance leases 3 - 5

The useful lives, depreciation method and carrying amounts of the 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed every year in order to guarantee 
that the depreciation methods and periods are in line with the expected 
economic benefits of the assets.

If the acquisition or production phase for property, plant and equipment 
continues for a longer period, the interest on borrowed capital until 

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of Nanogate AG and its subsidiaries, 
receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 
rate prevailing at the time of the respective transactions, and any translation 
differences are recognised through profit and loss on the balance sheet date 
at the rate prevailing on that date. 

The financial statements of all the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in euros.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets essentially comprise software, licences, trademarks and 
patent rights, a capitalised customer base and unpatented expertise, 
capitalised development costs and goodwill. 

Intangible assets acquired individually are measured at acquisition or 
production cost the first time they are reported (IAS 38). The acquisition 
costs of an intangible asset acquired through a business combination 
correspond to its fair value at the time of acquisition. After first-time 
recognition, the intangible assets are recognised at their acquisition or 
production costs, less accumulated amortisation and all accumulated 
impairment expenses, or at their acquisition cost. Production costs in this 
case encompass all costs which are directly attributable to the production 
process and reasonable proportions of the production-related overheads. 
Capitalised development costs include financing costs. The basic prerequi-
sites of capitalisation are that a future benefit is likely to accrue to the 
company and that the costs can be ascertained reliably. Intangible assets are 
amortised over their contractual or estimated useful lives.

Development costs are capitalised at production cost insofar as clear 
expense allocation is possible and both technical feasibility and the 
products’ marketability and/or internal usability are secured. There must, 
moreover, be a sufficient degree of probability that the development 
activities will lead to corresponding cash inflows and/or cost reductions in 
the future. Only those cost components which can be attributed directly or 
indirectly to the development process can be capitalised. Up to 31 Decem-
ber 2012, development costs eligible for capitalisation amounting to 
EUR 5,700,000 had been recognised (previous year: EUR 5,812,000). 
With the original approach, the capitalised development costs were reduced 
by the EUR 502,000 received in the form of expense grants (previous year: 
EUR 337,000). At the same time, there are a number of projects that did 
not fulfil the criteria for development costs in 2012. Research expenses and 
development costs not eligible for capitalisation are posted to expenses in 
the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are posted to 
expenses when their technical realisation is uncertain and when no estimate 
of a future economic benefit accruing from the resultant intangible asset 
can be made.

Ongoing amortisation of EUR 578,000 (previous year: EUR 376,000) was 
recognised in 2012 as individual projects were completed.

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” deal 
with accounting for derivative goodwill. Self-generated goodwill may not be 
capitalised under IFRS accounting rules. 

This asset item in the consolidated financial statements includes goodwill 
arising from the capital consolidation of subsidiaries.

Goodwill acquired for a consideration is capitalised and subjected to 
impairment testing at least once a year or whenever there is an indication 
that the unit’s value could be impaired, in accordance with IAS 36. The 
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Financial assets are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39 
(Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). This means that 
financial assets are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when Nanogate AG has a contractual right to receive cash or other 
financial assets from another party.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at market rates are accounted for at 
the settlement date. The first-time recognition of a financial asset is made at 
fair value plus transaction costs. Transaction costs incurred when financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are acquired are 
recognised directly in the income statement.

Receivables that do not bear interest or do so at below-market rates are 
initially recognised at the present value of the expected future cash flows. 
Subsequent measurement is made in line with the classification of the 
financial assets according to the categories of IAS 39, which each have 
different measurement rules. The categories are: financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, financial assets held 
to maturity and financial assets available for sale.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets not quoted on an 
active market. They are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. This measurement category includes trade receivables, 
financial receivables and loans included in other financial assets and cash 
and cash equivalents. Interest income from items in this category is 
determined using the effective interest method except in the case of current 
receivables or if the effect of calculating interest is immaterial.

Financial assets available for sale are those non-derivative financial assets not 
assigned to one of the other three categories. These are in particular equity 
securities (e.g. shares) and debt securities not held to maturity that are 
included in other financial assets. Changes in the fair value of financial 
assets available for sale are recognised directly in equity. Changes in fair 
value are only recognised in profit or loss when the assets are disposed of. If 
the fair value is significantly below amortised cost or is below it for a longer 
period, an impairment is recognised in profit or loss. In cases where the 
market value of equity and debt securities can be determined, this is 
recognised as fair value. If there is no quoted market price and the fair value 
cannot be reliably estimated, the financial assets are recognised at cost less 
impairment losses.

If there are objective, substantive indications that financial assets in the two 
categories of loans and receivables and financial assets available for sale 
mentioned above may be impaired, a test is carried out to determine 
whether the carrying amount is greater than the present value of the 
expected future cash flows, which are discounted using the current market 
yield of a comparable financial asset. If this is the case, the difference is 
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment.

Indications of impairment include operating losses at a company for several 
years in succession, a diminished market value, a substantial decline in 
creditworthiness, the high probability of insolvency or other forms of 
financial restructuring by a debtor or the disappearance of an active market. 
If the reasons for having recognised an impairment loss cease to exist, the 
loss is written back, but not to more than amortised cost. Impairment losses 
are not written back on available-for-sale equity securities. Financial assets 
are derecognised if the contractual rights to payment from the financial 
assets cease to exist or the financial assets together with all risks and 
rewards are transferred.

Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include derivative financial 
assets held for trading which do not qualify as hedging instruments in a 
hedging relationship. These assets form part of the category of financial 
assets and are always held at fair value. Changes in value are recognised in 
profit or loss and presented in the financial result. Derivative financial 

completion is capitalised as part of the acquisition and production costs in 
line with IAS 23 (Borrowing Costs). These circumstances did not occur in 
2012 and so no interest on borrowed capital was capitalised.

In accordance with IAS 16, the costs of dismantling and removing an asset 
are included in the capitalised acquisition and production costs. In the 
financial year 2012 these came to EUR 48,000.

Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill)

IAS 36 requires that a review be undertaken of property, plant and 
equipment and assets with a finite useful life on each balance sheet date to 
identify whether there are any impairment triggering events.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a limited useful 
life (excluding goodwill) are examined for impairment if facts or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable. As soon as the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit and 
loss. The recoverable amount is either the net selling price or the value in 
use of an asset, whichever is the higher. The net selling price is the amount 
recoverable from the sale of an asset at market standard terms, less costs to 
sell.

The value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the ongoing use of an asset and its disposal at 
the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is calculated for each 
individual asset or – if this is not possible – for the cash-generating unit the 
asset belongs to. 

If the reason for a previous impairment of property, plant and equipment or 
intangible assets with a limited useful life (excluding goodwill) ceases to 
apply, the value is written back up to a maximum of amortised acquisition 
or production cost.

Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation/
amortisation, while write-backs are included in operating income.

Government grants

Government grants are subsidies granted to the company to compensate for 
the past or future fulfilment of particular conditions in connection with the 
company’s operational activities. They must be reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a sufficient degree of certainty that the conditions will be met 
and the grant received. IAS 20 makes a distinction between grants which 
are related directly to the acquisition or production of particular assets 
(investment grants) and income grants which are not linked to a specific 
asset.

The income grants received were recognised immediately in profit and loss 
insofar as they are connected with expenses or losses that had already been 
incurred. The expense grants attributable to capitalised development costs 
were deducted from those costs. 

Government grants made on condition of non-current assets being 
purchased, built or otherwise procured are recognised in the balance sheet 
as deferred income and reported in profit or loss over the life of the asset in 
question on a systematic and rational basis. 

Financial assets

Financial assets consist of loans and receivables, equity and debt securities 
acquired and cash and cash equivalents with positive fair values.
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Future obligations are taken into account with the aid of actuarial methods. 
Specific assumptions have to be made which map the economic environ-
ment. These primarily consist of the applicable discount rate, the expected 
income from plan assets, and future developments in income and pensions.

The fair value of the plan assets is deducted from the present value of the 
pension obligations. The plan assets – which consist solely of pledged 
reinsurance policies – are valued annually on 31 December.

Actuarial gains and losses are recorded immediately through profit and loss 
and entered under pension provisions.

Provisions

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are formed for current legal or de 
facto obligations resulting from a past event which involve a probable 
outflow of resources whose amount can be estimated reliably. The amount 
to be carried as a liability is that which represents the best possible estimate 
of the outlay that is required to meet the current obligations as at the 
balance sheet date. Provisions which do not result in an outflow of resources 
the following year are reported at their settlement amount discounted to the 
balance sheet date, taking account of expected cost increases.

The present value is calculated on the basis of pre-tax interest rates which 
take into account the current market expectations regarding the interest 
effect as well as the risks specific to the obligation.

Provisions are not set off against rights of recourse. The provisions for 
guarantees are recognised on the basis of past experience. Provisions for 
dismantling and removal are recognised at the discounted amount 
necessary to settle the obligation, and property, plant and equipment is 
increased by the same amount (leasehold improvements). In subsequent 
periods, capitalised dismantling expenses are depreciated over the forecast 
(remaining) useful life of the leasehold improvements. The provision 
accrues annual interest.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if the Nanogate Group has a contractual obligation to pay cash or 
other financial assets to another party. First-time recognition of a financial 
liability is made at the fair value of the goods or services received or at the 
value of cash received less transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligations are 
settled, cancelled or expire.

As regards the treatment of liabilities in foreign currencies, see the “Foreign 
currency translation” section.

Other receivables and liabilities

Deferrals, prepayments and other non-financial assets and liabilities are 
held at amortised cost. They are reversed as the performance obligation is 
discharged.

Accounting for leases

The classification of leases is based on IAS 17, having regard to IFRIC 4, 
according to which a distinction is made between finance leases and 
operating leases.

instruments are measured at fair value based on quoted prices in an active 
market.

Financial assets held to maturity were not held as at 31 December 2012.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at cost of acquisition calculated on the basis of 
average prices, or at production cost. In addition to direct costs, the 
production costs include reasonable portions of the necessary production-
related material and production overheads, as well as depreciation 
necessitated by production and proportional administrative overheads that 
can be attributed directly to the production process. 

Inventories are measured as at the balance sheet date at the lower of cost of 
acquisition or production and net realisable value. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents contain cash in hand and call deposits with 
banks with original terms to maturity of up to three months. Cash and cash 
equivalents are reported at face value.

As regards the treatment of cash and cash equivalents in foreign currencies, 
see the “Foreign currency translation” section.

Income taxes

Recognised income taxes include taxes on taxable profits in the respective 
countries as well as changes in deferred taxes. Income taxes are recognised 
for the probable amount of payment on the basis of the statutory regula-
tions in force or adopted on the reporting date.

In accordance with IAS 12 (Income Taxes), deferred taxes are recognised 
for all temporary differences between the amounts in the balance sheet 
prepared for tax purposes and the IFRS balance sheet. In the event of the 
asset being realised or the liability discharged, temporary differences result 
in taxable or tax-deductible amounts. Taxable temporary differences result 
in the recognition of a deferred tax liability, while temporary differences 
which are tax-deductible result in the recognition of deferred tax assets.

In addition, deferred tax assets must be reported as loss carryforwards when 
it is likely that their utilisation will be possible. The deferrals are carried out 
for the amount of the likely tax burden or relief in subsequent financial 
years on the basis of the tax rate prevailing at the time of utilisation.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed on each balance 
sheet date and reduced if it is no longer likely that sufficient taxable income 
will be available to satisfy the claim either wholly or partly.

If there is a change in tax rates, its impact on the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities is recognised in profit or loss.

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

Current and deferred taxes are posted to expenses or income, unless they 
have arisen in connection with items that were recognised directly in equity. 
In this case, the tax must also be recognised in equity.

Pension obligations

In line with IAS 19, the projected unit credit method is used to calculate 
the present value of pension obligations on 31 December of each year. 
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Changes in presentation 

Regarding these changes in presentation we also refer to “General 
principles” in section 2.

B. Notes to the consolidated income statement

3. Sales

The consideration paid by customers for deliveries made and services 
rendered − less sales reductions – is reported under sales. The classification 
of sales by market can be found in section D. 36 “Segment reporting”.

4. Other own work capitalised

This item comprises own work expended in 2012 in connection with the 
development costs capitalised under intangible assets and the production 
costs for machinery reported in property, plant and equipment.

5. Other operating income

Other operating income consists of the following:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Transfer of costs / reimbursements 62 142

Subsidies 71 167

Income from disposal of assets 15 -

Income from accrual of grants 39 39

Non-cash benefits for use of vehicles 143 113

Income from write-backs of receivables 132 13

Miscellaneous other income 211 201

673 675

The grants reported above refer solely to income subsidies received in 
connection with expenses that had already been incurred in the respective 
financial year.

6. Cost of materials

The cost of materials is as follows:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Cost of raw materials and supplies 8,781 8,374

Cost of external services 4,584 4,604

13,365 12,978

7. Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses are as follows:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Wages and salaries 11,292 10,305

Social security 1,862 1,678

Pensions 468 155

Non-cash remuneration costs

for stock options 115 50

13,737 12,188

In order to secure the long-term loyalty and motivation of the Nanogate 
Group’s employees, Nanogate AG has launched a stock option programme 

Leases are classified as finance leases when essentially all the risks and 
rewards associated with ownership are transferred to the lessee under the 
lease agreement. 

Assets held under a finance lease are reported as Group assets for the first 
time at the beginning of the lease at the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.

The corresponding liability to the lessor must be shown in the balance sheet 
as an obligation from finance leases. In 2012, assets of EUR 928,000 
arising from finance lease agreements were posted (previous year: 
EUR 757,000). They are depreciated over their useful lives.

The lease payments are apportioned between interest expenses and lease 
obligations, with the result that the rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability is constant. Interest expenses are recognised directly 
in the income statement.

Leases in which the economic ownership of the leased item remains with 
the lessor are regarded as operating leases. In these cases, rental or lease 
payments are recognised through profit or loss using the straight-line 
method over the term of the respective lease.

Expense and income recognition

The Nanogate Group’s sales result from self-generated products and the 
enhancement of products. Sales are recognised at the fair values of 
consideration received or still to be received and reduced by the values of 
customer returns, discounts and other similar deductions.

Sales and other operating income are recognised on delivery and transfer of 
risks to the customer. Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss at 
the time when the goods or services are utilised or when the expenses are 
incurred. Interest income and expenses are recognised using the accrual 
method.

Estimates made during preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS requires assumptions and estimates to be made that affect the assets 
and liabilities reported in the balance sheet, the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities and other financial obligations as of the balance sheet date, and 
the reporting of expenses and income during the reporting period. 

The estimates are based on past experience and other assumptions that are 
considered appropriate under the given circumstances. They are continually 
reviewed but can differ from the actual amounts.

Assumptions and estimates mainly relate to defining useful lives, 
calculating discounted cash flows in the course of measuring intangible 
assets during purchase price allocation and when conducting impairment 
tests and recognising provisions, e.g. for litigation, taxes, rebates and 
guarantees.

The assumptions and estimates additionally relate to, in particular, the 
realisability of future tax relief. The estimates with regard to deferred taxes 
on loss carryforwards depend to a large extent on the development of 
income at the relevant taxable entities. The amounts which actually arise in 
future periods can therefore differ from the estimates.

An estimate was also made as part of segment reporting. This related to 
assigning assets and depreciation/amortisation to segments based on an esti-
mate of pro rata use.
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13. Income taxes

Expenses and income arising from income taxes in the financial years 2012 
and 2011 can be broken down as follows: 

2012 2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Current taxes

Germany 491 438

Abroad 569 156

Taxes previous years 38 -25

Deferred taxes -431 -429

(tax expense +; tax income -) 667 140

The table below shows the reconciliation between expected and reported tax 
expenses in the respective financial years. To determine the expected tax 
expenses, the earnings before taxes are multiplied by the overall tax rate for 
2012 of 30.175 %. This tax rate is a combined income tax rate comprising 
the uniform corporation tax rate of 15.0 %, plus the solidarity surcharge of 
5.5 % and an effective trade tax rate of 14.35 %.

The following reconciliation statement shows the difference between 
expected and reported income tax expenses:

 2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Earnings before taxes 1,409 -311

Applicable tax rate 30.175 % 30.175 %

Expected tax expense -425 94

Effects of changes in tax rates - -22

Effects of different tax rates in foreign countries 120 32

Adjustment due to effects from corporate tax act  

Section 8b (5) KStG
- -369

Differences due to varying trade tax multipliers 10 17

Tax increase due to non-tax-deductible costs -332 -38

Non-capitalised tax deferrals on losses; realisable loss 

carryforwards on which no deferred taxes were calculated 9 126

Tax rebates/payments for prior years -38 22

Other tax effects -11 -2

Income tax expense recognised in

the income statement -667 -140

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for future effects that arise 
from the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the IFRS balance sheet and the amounts reported for tax purposes. The 
calculation of deferred taxes was based on forecast income tax rates for the 
future tax period.

The rate of corporation tax currently applicable in the Federal Republic 
of Germany is 15.0 %, while the index for trade tax is 3.5 %. For the 
companies included in the consolidated financial statements as at 
31 December 2012, an effective corporation tax rate of 15.825 % was used 
as the basis for calculating deferred taxes.

The deferred taxes were calculated using an overall tax rate determined for 
the parent company. The multiple for determining trade tax was 410.0 %, 
as in the previous year. Altogether, the combined income tax rate for 
determining deferred taxes was 30.175 %.

to facilitate participation in the company’s share capital in the form of share 
subscription in return for the fulfilment of certain requirements. As at 
31 December 2012, there were a total of 166,475 stock options which had 
not yet expired or been exercised. The stock option models influenced 
earnings by EUR 115,000 in the financial year 2012 (2011: EUR 50,000).

More information about the stock option programme can be found in 
section C. 26 of the Notes.

8. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are made up as follows:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Operating expenses 2,793 2,115

Administrative expenses 1,361 1,302

Sales expenses 1,660 1,514

Losses on receivables and impairment 116 747

Miscellaneous other expenses 769 692

6,699 6,370

9.  Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment

A detailed breakdown of the amortisation of intangible assets and 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment can be found in Note 17 
“Intangible assets” and Note 18 “Property, plant and equipment”.

10. Financial income

The financial income shown largely consists of interest payments received 
on loans. Of the interest income, EUR 17,000 impacted on cash flow in 
2012 (2011: EUR 24,000).

11. Financial expenses

The financial expenses are mostly interest expenses for overdrafts and bank 
loans. Financial expenses also include amortisation of financial assets 
amounting to EUR 283,000 (2011: EUR 406,000). EUR 804,000 of the 
interest expenses shown had an impact on cash flow in the financial year 
2012 (2011: EUR 767,000).

12. Result from investments accounted for using the equity method

The pro rata loss of EUR 85,000 from the investment accounted for using 
the equity method as at 31 December 2012 relates to Plastic-Design GmbH 
(2011: EUR 0). This loss was derived from the portfolio company’s figures 
for the 2012 financial year. 

As at 31 December 2012, the equity holding had assets totalling 
EUR 7,496,000 and liabilities to the amount of EUR 6,156,000. In the 
2012 financial year, the company achieved sales of EUR 12,230,000 and 
earnings of EUR -771,000.

In the previous year, the pro rata earnings of HOLMENKOL AG were 
recorded here, as the company was still classed as an associate as at 
31 December 2011. As the first-time consolidation of HOLMENKOL AG 
as an associated company resulted in negative goodwill and the assumption 
was that this included anticipated losses, the pro rata earnings were offset 
against the negative goodwill. The earnings were therefore not recognised in 
the income statement.
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31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Total operating income - 6,179

Total operating expenses - -6,840

Current result from discontinued operations before taxes - -661

Income taxes on discontinued operations - -6

Current result from discontinued operations after taxes - -667

Result of valuation/disposal of discontinued operations - -2,244

Result of valuation/disposal of discontinued 

operations after taxes - -2,244

Result from discontinued operations - -2,911

15. Earnings attributable to non-controlling interests

Earnings from continuing and discontinued operations are attributed as fol-
lows:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Net income/loss

Net income/loss from continuing operations 742 -451

Net income/loss from discontinued operations  

(HOLMENKOL AG) - -2,911

Total net income/loss 742 -3,362

of which attributable to minority interests

Net income/loss from continuing operations 482 600

Net income/loss from discontinued operations  

(HOLMENKOL AG) - -333

Net income/loss attributable to minority interests 482 267

16. Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are determined in accordance with IAS 33 by 
dividing consolidated net income for the year (after minority interests and 
allocation of earnings to shareholders of the parent company) by the average 
number of shares in circulation during the year. The key figures for earnings 
per share are as follows:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Consolidated net income/loss including allocation of earnings 

to shareholders after minority interests (in rounded EUR) 259,781 -3,629,207

from continuing operations 259,781 -1,051,708

from discontinued operations (HOLMENKOL AG) - -2,577,499

Weighted average number of shares issued

Basic 2,501,752 2,165,531

Diluted 2,546,118 2,171,078

Basic earnings per share (in EUR) 0.10 -1.68

Diluted earnings per share (in EUR) 0.10 -1.67

Basic earnings per share (in EUR) 0.10 -1.68

of which from continuing operations 0.10 -0.49

of which from discontinued operations  

(HOLMENKOL AG) - -1.20

Diluted earnings per share (in EUR) 0.10 -1.67

of which from continuing operations 0.10 -0.48

of which from discontinued operations  

(HOLMENKOL AG) - -1.19

The diluted number of shares issued refers to 147,625 shares that can only 
be issued under certain circumstances (previous year: 29,570).

With regard to the 2010 stock option programme (second tranche), the 
value of the shares to be granted is below the exercise price of the options 
granted. This tranche therefore has no effect on the diluted earnings per 
share.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from accounting differences and 
are distributed among the individual balance sheet items as follows:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Non-current assets 43 67

Inventories 12 4

Other assets 37 65

Other provisions 272 187

Other liabilities 116 82

Loss carryforwards 3,848 3,684

Deferred tax assets 4,328 4,089

Non-current assets -3,562 -3,990

Trade receivables -8 -7

Other assets - -29

Other provisions -8 -7

Other liabilities - -2

Deferred tax liabilities -3,578 -4,035

Net deferred taxes,  

deferred tax assets 750 54

The year-on-year change of EUR 696,000 in deferred taxes arises from tax 
income of EUR 431,000 recognised in the income statement, deferred taxes 
of EUR 17,000 recognised directly in equity and the amount of 
EUR 248,000 relating to subsidiaries consolidated for the first time after 
having previously not been consolidated for reasons of materiality. The 
income taxes of EUR 17,000 recognised directly in equity stem from the 
equity fundraising costs recorded under equity.

In addition, deferred taxes in the amount of EUR 15,000 previously 
recognised in the revaluation reserve were reclassified to other retained 
earnings. This relates to deferred taxes resulting from the difference 
between actual write-downs on buildings and the comparable write-downs 
on the acquisition cost of the buildings.

The tax loss carryforwards which are likely to be realisable were estimated 
at EUR 12,752,000 on condition that the foreseeable realisation period 
applies (previous year: EUR 12,209,000). As a result, deferred tax assets 
on loss carryforwards amounting to EUR 3,848,000 are reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012 
(previous year: EUR 3,684,000).

In the financial year 2012 and in the previous year, the existing tax loss 
carryforwards were recognised in full.

IFRS stipulates that deferred tax assets and liabilities must be reported as 
non-current but also contain current elements that are realised within 
twelve months of the balance sheet date. The likely realisation of the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities (after netting out current deferred tax 
assets against deferred tax liabilities) is shown in the following table: 

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Total > 1 year Total > 1 year

Deferred tax assets 4,328 3,848 4,089 3,684

Deferred tax liabilities -3,578 -3,562 -4,035 -3,990

Net deferred taxes 750 286 54 -306

14. Discontinued operations (HOLMENKOL AG)

The following table shows the 2011 result from discontinued operations. 
This relates entirely to HOLMENKOL AG:



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

46

connection with non-patented knowledge have an indefinite useful life due 
to their legal and economic significance. 

Impairment testing was carried out at the level of the smallest cash-generat-
ing unit (CGU) or groups of cash-generating units on the basis of the value 
in use.

The goodwill recognised as at 31 December 2012 comprised 
EUR 5,442,000 in relation to the Advanced Technologies segment 
(previous year: EUR 5,442,000) and EUR 1,662,000 for the Base and 
Advanced Technologies segments (previous year: EUR 1,662,000). The NIS 
GmbH business unit and goodwill of EUR 1,662,000 were allocated to the 
Base and Advanced Technologies segments (previous year: 
EUR 1,662,000). The Eurogard B.V. business unit and goodwill of 
EUR 5,442,000 were allocated to the Advanced Technologies segment 
(previous year: EUR 5,442,000). 

The cash flow forecasts upon which the impairment tests are based are 
governed by the corporate planning approved by the management for a 
period of ten years. Among other things, this planning is based on sources 
published externally. It also took into account the price agreements based 
on empirical values, anticipated efficiency increases and sales development 
derived from the company’s strategic focus.

The following table provides an overview of the goodwill subject to 
impairment testing: 

Name of the CGU NIS GmbH Eurogard B.V.

Segment
Base/Advanced 
Technologies

Advanced 
Technologies

Goodwill carrying amount 1,662 5,442

Sales growth p.a.

Planning period 2.9 - 17.4 % 2.0 - 10.6 %

Duration of planning period 10 years 10 years

Sales growth p.a. at end of planning period 2.0 % 2.0 %

Discount rate 6.1 % 6.1 %

The impairment testing of the acquired word marks with a carrying amount 
of EUR 2,329,000 (previous year: EUR 2,329,000) was presented on the 
basis of the smallest cash-generating unit (CGU) in each case. The premises 
for the ELAMET® and SICRALAN® CGUs tally with those of the 
impairment test for acquired goodwill. In addition, the following assump-
tions were made: sales growth over the planning period of -9.3 to +3.5 % 
p.a., a planning period of three years, sales growth after the planning period 
of 2.0 % p.a. and savings of hypothetical licence fees. The pre-tax discount 
rate applied is 6.5 %.

The impairment testing of the goodwill and the word marks delivered the 
conclusion that no impairment was needed. The previous year’s impairment 
of EUR 67,000 related to write-downs on the goodwill in the Base 
Technologies segment and was for the NIS GmbH business unit.

The Group management is of the opinion that, based on reasonable 
judgement, no fundamentally possible change to a basic assumption upon 
which calculation of the value in use of the cash-generating units or groups 
of cash-generating units to which goodwill or intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life is based, could result in the carrying amount exceeding 
its recoverable amount.

The exception to this is the word marks ELAMET® and SICRALAN® in 
connection with non-patented knowledge. Based on a 0.1 % decline in sales 
or an 8.2 % increase in the discount rate, the value in use of the ELAMET® 
and SICRALAN® CGUs would be equal to the carrying amount.

C.  Notes to the consolidated statement of financial   
position

17. Intangible assets

Intangible assets

Soft-
ware, 

licences, 
trade-
marks 
and 

patents

Client 
base

Devel-
opment 

costs

Good-
will

Leased 
assets

Pay-
ments 

on 
account

Total

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Acquisition and production costs 6,821 2,566 8,684 5,599 - - 23,670

Depreciation/amortisation -415 - -2,883 -2,488 - - -5,786

As at 1.1.2011 6,406 2,566 5,801 3,111 - - 17,884

Change in the companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements -2,887 - -922 4,060 - - 251

Depreciation and amortisation in 
the financial year

- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations

-123
-63

-342
-

-204
-172

-67
-

-10
-

-
-

-746
-235

Additions 38 - 1,311 - 91 - 1,440

Transfers - - - - - - -

Disposals - - -2 - - - -2

As at 31.12.2011 3,371 2,224 5,812 7,104 81 - 18,592

Acquisition and production costs 3,696 2,566 6,146 7,691 91 - 20,190

Depreciation/amortisation -325 -342 -334 -587 -10 - -1,598

As at 1.1.2012 3,371 2,224 5,812 7,104 81 - 18,592

Change in the companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements 26 - - - - - 26

Depreciation and amortisation in 
the financial year -134 -256 -578 - -20 - -988

Additions 12 - 465 - 7 26 510

Transfers - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - -

As at 31.12.2012 3,275 1,968 5,699 7,104 68 26 18,140

Acquisition and production costs 3,765 2,566 6,611 7,691 98 26 20,757

Depreciation/amortisation -490 -598 -912 -587 -30 - -2,617

The software and licences, trademarks and patents shown are intangible 
assets acquired for payment. Of these intangible assets, EUR 856,000 have 
a limited useful life of three to 12 years and are amortised on a straight-line 
basis (previous year: EUR 1,042,000). This item also includes the word 
marks ELAMET® and SICRALAN®, which have an indefinite useful life 
and are carried at EUR 2,329,000 in connection with non-patented 
knowledge (previous year: EUR 2,329,000).

The self-generated intangible assets reported in the balance sheet (IAS 
38.57) relate entirely to development costs; these are accounted for by nine 
overall development projects. In 2012, development projects were amortised 
by EUR 578,000 (previous year: EUR 376,000).

In the financial year 2012, total research and development expenses of 
EUR 4,052,000 were incurred (previous year: EUR 3,582,000).

As in the previous year, all goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life were subject to regular impairment testing in accordance with 
IAS 36. The acquired word marks ELAMET® and SICRALAN® in 
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19. Financial assets

The recognised non-current financial assets as at 31 December 2012 consist 
mainly of loans of EUR 44,000 with a term to maturity of more than one 
year (previous year: EUR 193,000). 

Following the first-time consolidation of Nanogate Textile & Care Systems 
GmbH on 1 January 2012, the shares recognised in the previous year 
(EUR 847,000) have now been derecognised.

20. Deferred tax assets

The deferred tax assets essentially comprise the tax loss carryforwards of 
EUR 12,752,000 that are likely to be realisable (previous year: 
EUR 12,209,000). The development and composition of deferred taxes are 
explained in section B. 13 “Income taxes”.

21. Inventories

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, inventories were as 
follows:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Raw materials and supplies 1,104 1,027

Work in progress 156 202

Finished goods and merchandise 502 688

1,762 1,917

No impairment charges were necessary as per the respective balance sheet 
dates.

The bank loans recognised under financial liabilities are secured to the 
amount of EUR 713,000 by inventories (previous year: EUR 844,000).

22. Trade receivables 

Current trade receivables on the respective balance sheet dates were as 
follows:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Domestic receivables 2,464 2,425

Foreign receivables 1,416 2,031
3,880 4,456

Impairments on at-risk receivables -50 -680

3,830 3,776

As part of subsequent measurement, any impairments that may be necessary 
are taken into account (amortised cost). The impairments reflect the 
possible default risk. There are no significant overdue receivables which have 
not been impaired. There are no other noteworthy credit risks, interest rate 
risks or currency risks.

Changes in impairments:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Position at the start of the year 680 47
Change in the companies included in the consolidated  

financial statements - -2
Write-downs during the financial year 26 648

Decrease in impairments through profit and loss -656 -13

Position at the end of the year 50 680

18. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment

Land 
and 

buildings

Technical 
equip-
ment 
and 

machin-
ery

Other 
equip-
ment, 

office and 
plant 
equip-
ment

Leased 
assets

Payments 
on 

account
Total

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Acquisition and production costs 9,623 5,377 2,467 2,306 201 19,974

Depreciation/amortisation -287 -1,051 -1,411 -289 - -3,038

As at 1.1.2011 9,336 4,326 1,056 2,017 201 16,936

Change in the companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements -171 3,129 -244 -1,215 67 1,566

Depreciation and amortisation in 
the financial year

- Continuing operations
- Discontinued operations

-394
-13

-975
-9

-229
-53

-119
-45

-39
-

-1,756
-120

Additions - 80 115 38 408 641

Transfers - 405 - - -405 -

Disposals - -1 - - -94 -95

As at 31.12.2011 8,758 6,955 645 676 138 17,172

Acquisition and production costs 9,383 8,919 1,937 841 177 21,257

Depreciation/amortisation -625 -1,964 -1,292 -165 -39 -4,085

As at 1.1.2012 8,758 6,955 645 676 138 17,172

Change in the companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements - - 3 - - 3

Depreciation and amortisation in 
the financial year -398 -1,177 -227 -132 - -1,934

Additions 57 1,176 167 316 250 1,966

Transfers - - - - -

Disposals - -102 -3 - - -105

As at 31.12.2012 8,417 6,852 585 860 388 17,102

Acquisition and production costs 9,440 9,969 2,115 1,157 427 23,108

Depreciation/amortisation -1,023 -3,117 -1,530 -297 -39 -6,006

The Group’s land and buildings which are not leasehold improvements were 
evaluated by an independent expert as at 31 December 2010 to determine 
their fair value. They were evaluated on the basis of market data. Net 
increases in value are recognised in the revaluation reserve in equity, taking 
deferred taxes into account.

Were the land and buildings to be recognised at amortised acquisition or 
production cost, their value would be EUR 7,642,000 (previous year: 
EUR 7,939,000).

The EUR 3,000 change in the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements relates to the first-time inclusion of Nanogate Textile & 
Care Systems GmbH in the consolidated financial statements. The 
additions to property, plant and equipment amounting to EUR 1,966,000 
stem from ongoing investing activities in 2012. There were also disposals 
amounting to EUR 105,000 and current depreciation for the financial year 
2012 of EUR 1,934,000.

The bank loans recognised under financial liabilities are secured to the 
amount of EUR 1,819,000 by machinery and equipment (previous year: 
EUR 2,939,000).
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25. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to EUR 11,653,000 were reported as 
at the balance sheet date (previous year: EUR 8,957,000). These consist 
solely of cash in hand and current credit balances at banks in the form of 
cash at call and fixed-term deposits. The fixed-term deposits held at 
financial institutions earn interest at standard market rates based on the 
three-month Euribor rate. The fixed-term deposits’ terms end within 90 
days of the balance sheet date.

In view of the short terms of the fixed-term deposits, i.e. the short 
fixed-interest periods, the market risk is of minor importance. In view of 
the banks’ credit standing, there is no assumption of a default risk. The 
interest accrued but not yet settled up to 31 December 2012 is reported 
under other current financial assets. In the financial year 2012, interest 
income from these financial instruments assigned to the loans and 
receivables category amounted to EUR 15,000 (previous year: 
EUR 46,000). 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents in accordance with IAS 7 are shown 
in the statement of cash flows.

26. Equity

Group equity and its individual components are shown in detail in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Subscribed capital

In 2012, 6,256 new shares were issued from conditional capital to holders 
of subscription rights. This increased share capital from EUR 2,478,229.00 
to EUR 2,484,485.00. As at 31 December 2012, the share increase from 
conditional capital had not yet been entered in the commercial register.

Following a resolution of the Management Board dated 19 November 2012, 
the approval of the Supervisory Board on 19 November 2012 and entry into 
the commercial register on 27 November 2012, a capital increase from 
authorised capital was effected by issuing 200,000 new shares for cash. This 
increased share capital from EUR 2,484,485.00 to EUR 2,684,485.00.

Subscribed capital was therefore set at EUR 2,684,485.00 as at 31 
December 2012. It is divided into 2,684,485 no-par-value bearer shares 
with an arithmetical share of the company’s subscribed capital of EUR 1.00 
per share. 

Conditional capital

The shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 2012 revised Section 4 (4) of the 
articles of association, taking into account the exercised and expired stock 
options from the 2006 stock option plan. A conditional increase in share 
capital of up to EUR 89,890.00 was therefore effected (Conditional Capital 
I) by issuing a maximum of 89,890 new no-par-value bearer shares. The 
conditional capital increase is designed to satisfy share subscription rights 
held by members of the company’s management, company employees and 
employees of affiliated companies granted in accordance with the resolution 
of the shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2006.

The shareholders’ meeting of 19 June 2012 revised Section 4 (5) of the 
articles of association. As a result, a conditional increase in share capital of 
up to EUR 24,850.00 was effected (Conditional Capital II) by issuing a 
maximum of 24,850 new no-par-value bearer shares. The conditional 
capital increase is designed to satisfy share subscription rights held by 
members of the company’s management, company employees and 
employees of affiliated companies granted in accordance with the resolution 
of the shareholders’ meeting held on 16 June 2010.

Of the income from the reduction of specific valuation allowances on trade 
receivables, EUR 524,000 was offset against expenses relating to the 
derecognition of trade receivables as utilisation of the valuation allowance 
formed. 

Before the Group takes on a new customer, it arranges for an external credit 
assessment in order to judge the creditworthiness of the potential customer 
in question and set its credit limit. The determination of the recoverable 
value of trade receivables takes account of every change in creditworthiness 
between the granting of the payment period and the balance sheet date. The 
Management Board is convinced that no risk provisioning is necessary in 
addition to the impairments already recognised. 

Current trade receivables were overdue as follows:

Carrying 

amount

of which: neither 
impaired

nor overdue
on the reporting 

date

of which: not impaired but overdue 
on the reporting date

up to 3 
months

3 - 6 
months

6 - 12 
months

more than 
12 months

in EUR 

,000
in EUR ,000

in EUR 

,000

in EUR 

,000

in EUR 

,000

in EUR 

,000
31.12.2012 3,830 2,768 980 45 19 9

31.12.2011 3,776 3,028 564 74 5 2

The bank loans recognised under financial liabilities are secured to the 
amount of EUR 1,936,000 by trade receivables (previous year: 
EUR 1,926,000).

23. Financial assets

In 2012, current financial assets mainly consisted of loans of EUR 20,000 
(previous year: EUR 56,000). 

The receivables on a contractual basis reported as per the balance sheet date 
have been measured at amortised cost (IAS 39.46). If there are any objective 
indications of credit risks, these are taken into account when calculating 
amortised cost.

There were no interest rate or currency risks as per the balance sheet date.

Financial assets were overdue as follows:

Carrying 

amount

of which: neither 
impaired

nor overdue
on the reporting 

date

of which: not impaired but overdue 
on the reporting date

up to 3 
months

3 - 6 
months

6 - 12 
months

more than 
12 months

in EUR 

,000
in EUR ,000

in EUR 

,000

in EUR 

,000

in EUR 

,000

in EUR 

,000
31.12.2012 79 79 - - - -

31.12.2011 1,150 1,150 - - - -

24. Other assets

The other current assets reported as per 31 December 2012 and 31 
December 2011 consist of the following:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Outstanding subsidies 158 85

Prepayments/payments on account/prepaid expenses 123 133

Sales tax and other taxes 168 100

Creditors with debit balances 10 241

Receivables from staff 14 3

Other 26 74

499 636
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Capital reserves

This item consists mainly of capital reserves pursuant to Section 272 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) amounting to EUR 18,073,000, 
reduced by the equity fundraising costs of EUR 1,229,000.

The capital reserves also include the carrying amount of the obligations 
(EUR 337,000) that arise within the framework of the stock option 
programme launched by Nanogate AG (cf. the explanations in “Share-based 
payment”).

Retained earnings

In addition to a EUR 10,000 statutory reserve in accordance with Section 
150 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), which was formed at 
GfO AG in late 2010, retained earnings include a revaluation reserve of 
EUR 229,000 and other reserves of EUR 1,221,000.

Deferred tax expense of EUR 79,000 was deducted from the EUR 308,000 
revaluation reserve formed, taking the reserve to EUR 229,000. In the 2012 
financial year, EUR 37,000 was reclassified from the revaluation reserve to 
other retained earnings.

The first-time inclusion of Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH in the 
Nanogate Group resulted in a reduction in retained earnings of 
EUR 189,000 in the year under review due to the first-time consolidation 
effect.

Share-based payment

The shareholders’ meeting on 26 June 2006 (with the amendments passed 
on 28 June 2006 and 16 June 2010) resolved to initiate a stock option 
programme and create conditional capital in connection with the scheme 
(“2006 stock option plan”). On the basis of this, the Supervisory Board 
– or the Management Board with the Supervisory Board’s approval – is 
authorised to grant entitled shareholders subscription rights (“stock 
options”) for shares in tranches. To date, 12,036 shares from the 2006 stock 
option plan have been exercised and 18,420 have expired. Based on this 
authorisation, there are stock options for the subscription of a total of 
81,525 no-par-value bearer shares. 

The shareholders’ meeting on 16 June 2010 resolved to initiate a stock 
option programme and create conditional capital of EUR 75,910.00 in 
connection with the scheme (“2010 stock option plan”). On the basis of 
this, the Supervisory Board – or the Management Board with the 
Supervisory Board’s approval – is authorised to grant entitled shareholders 
subscription rights (“stock options”) for up to 75,910 no-par-value bearer 
shares in tranches. Based on this authorisation, stock options were granted 
to entitled shareholders in relation to a total of 24,850 no-par-value bearer 
shares, of which none have been exercised or have expired to date. As a 
result, there are stock options relating to a maximum of 24,850 no-par-
value bearer shares in the 2010 stock option plan.

The shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 2012 resolved to initiate a stock 
option programme and create conditional capital of EUR 133,082.00 in 
connection with the scheme (“2012 stock option plan”). On the basis of 
this, the Supervisory Board – or the Management Board with the 
Supervisory Board’s approval – is authorised to grant entitled shareholders 
subscription rights (“stock options”) for up to 133,082 no-par-value bearer 
shares in tranches. Stock options are issued on the basis of a resolution of 
the Management Board and an approval resolution of the Supervisory 
Board or, insofar as stock options are to be issued to members of the 
Management Board, exclusively on the basis of a resolution of the 

In accordance with a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 
2012, paragraph 6 was added to Section 4 of the articles of association. A 
conditional increase in share capital of up to EUR 133,082.00 was effected 
(Conditional Capital III) by issuing a maximum of 133,082 new no-par-
value bearer shares. The conditional capital increase is designed to satisfy 
share subscription rights held by members of the company’s management, 
company employees and employees of affiliated companies granted in 
accordance with the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting held on 19 June 
2012.

The conditional capital increases will be effected only insofar as is necessary 
to meet the requirements of options being taken up by holders of subscrip-
tion rights exercising those rights.

In 2012, following the exercise of stock options, 6,256 shares were issued 
from Conditional Capital I to members of the Management Board and 
employees of the Nanogate Group.

As at 31 December 2012, conditional capital therefore totalled EUR 
241,566.00 and was made up as follows:

-  Conditional Capital I: EUR 83,634.00,
-  Conditional Capital II: EUR 24,850.00 and
-  Conditional Capital III: EUR 133,082.00.

Authorised capital

The authorisation contained in Section 4 (3) of the articles of association 
enabling the Management Board to increase the company’s share capital by 
a maximum of EUR 382,551.00 in one or several stages up to 15 June 2015 
was revoked by the resolution passed at the shareholders’ meeting on 19 
June 2012.

At the same time, with the agreement of the Supervisory Board, the 
company’s Management Board was authorised by the shareholders’ meeting 
held on 19 June 2012 to increase the company’s share capital in one or more 
stages by 18 June 2017 by up to a total of EUR 1,239,114.00 by issuing a 
maximum of 1,239,114 new no-par-value bearer shares with a proportional 
share of EUR 1.00 in the share capital against contributions in cash or kind 
(Authorised Capital I). Shareholders must be granted subscription rights. 
However, subject to the agreement of the Supervisory Board, the Manage-
ment Board is authorised to preclude the right of shareholders to subscribe 
for shares. Shareholder subscription rights may, nevertheless, be precluded 
only under the following circumstances:

-  to compensate for residual amounts;
-  if the new shares are issued to employees of Nanogate AG or companies 

affiliated with Nanogate AG as defined in Section 15 ff. of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG);

-  if the new shares are issued as part of a capital increase for subscription 
in kind in order to acquire companies, parts of companies or equity 
holdings in companies as part of Nanogate AG’s business purpose;

-  if the shares are issued at a price which does not significantly undercut 
the quoted price and the preclusion of share subscription rights applies 
only to new shares whose arithmetical par value is less than 10 % of the 
share capital, i.e. no more than EUR 247,822.00; the utilisation of the 
10 % limit and the preclusion of subscription rights must take account 
of other authorisations under Section 186 (3) (4) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG).

Further details of shareholders’ rights and the terms of share issuance are 
decided upon by the Management Board with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board.
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44.67 %), a dividend yield of 2.0 % (2011: 2.0 %), a risk-free interest rate of 
1.1 % (2011: 1.63 %) and an anticipated option term of 87 months (2011: 
87 months). A term of five years was applied to the volatility of the standard 
deviation from ongoing interest-bearing earnings per share. No staff 
fluctuation was factored in for the tranche issued in the 2012 financial year 
(2011: 15.0 %). The fair value of the options granted in 2012 was an average 
of EUR 7.67 per option (2011: EUR 6.08). 

A total of EUR 65,000 was taken into account in the reporting period 
(previous year: EUR 30,000). In line with IFRS 2 this was posted via 
personnel expenses to the capital reserves.

Non-controlling interests

This balancing item includes the shares held by parties outside the Group in 
the fully consolidated GfO AG.

Dividend per share

The Management Board and Supervisory Board will make a proposal to the 
shareholders’ meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.10 per share be paid from 
Nanogate AG’s balance sheet profit for the 2012 financial year as calculated 
in accordance with the principles of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
This would result in dividend payments totalling EUR 268,000. No 
dividend was paid for the 2011 financial year.

27. Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined-benefit plan in relation to company pension 
commitments for the entitled recipients of its subsidiary GfO AG. The 
company’s pension scheme is financed using plan assets and, in the case of 
amounts exceeding these, using pension obligations.

The latest actuarial measurement of the present value of the defined-benefit 
obligation was performed as at 31 December 2012 by Prof. Dr. Dieter 
Denneberg, Peter Denneberg (GbR), Bremen. The fair value of plan assets 
was substantiated by a confirmation of insurance as at 31 December 2012. 
The anticipated earnings were determined on the basis of the expected 
earnings of the assets in accordance with the current investment policy.

Pension obligations developed as follows after being offset against plan 
assets:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Present value of pension obligations 1,276 1,027
Fair value of plan assets 335 273
Performance obligations exceeding assets 941 754

The table below shows changes in the present value of the pension 
obligations:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Present value of pension obligations as at 1 January 1,027 962
Costs of new pension entitlements in financial year 

Benefit entitlements 28 24
Accrued interest on pension entitlements 48 50

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 209 26
Pension obligations paid -36 -35
Present value of pension obligations as at 31 December 1,276 1,027

Supervisory Board. The subscription rights agreement must be concluded 
by midnight on 18 June 2017 and must otherwise be during an issue period. 
Based on this authorisation, stock options were granted to entitled 
shareholders in relation to a total of 60,100 no-par-value bearer shares, of 
which none have been exercised or have expired to date. As a result, there 
are stock options relating to a maximum of 60,100 no-par-value bearer 
shares in the 2012 stock option plan. 

The stock options are issued to managers and selected employees. As at 
31 December 2012, six tranches had been issued, none of which had thus 
expired. The exercise period was set at three years per tranche, whereby a 
two-year lock-up/vesting period has been agreed for the first three tranches 
and a four-year lock-up/vesting period has been agreed for tranches four to six.

The following table gives details of changes in the number of outstanding 
stock options and the corresponding weighted average exercise prices:

2012 2011
Average

exercise price
per option

in EUR Options

Average
exercise price
per option

in EUR Options
As at: 1 January 17.68 112,631 19.17 117,981
Granted 16.87 60,100 21.07 18,850

Expired - - 32.00 -18,420

Exercised 13.58 -6,256 13.47 -5,780

As at: 31 December 17.54 166,475 17.68 112,631

Of the 166,475 outstanding options (2011: 112,631) 81,525 can be 
exercised (2011: 79,890). Options exercised in 2012 resulted in the issue of 
6,256 shares (2011: 5,780) at an average price of EUR 13.58 per share 
(2011: EUR 13.47). The weighted average share price at the time of 
exercising was EUR 21.03 (2011: EUR 16.60). The corresponding 
transaction costs amounted to EUR 3,000 (2011: EUR 6,000) and were 
offset against the revenues received.

The stock options outstanding at the end of the year have the following 
expiry dates and exercise prices:

Granting/exercise Expiry date Exercise
price per share

in EUR

Shares

2012 2011

2008-2010 22.10.13 19.46 50,320 50,320

2009-2011 22.10.14 13.47 23,595 29,570

2010-2012 21.10.15 15.86 7,610 7,891

2010-2014 20.10.17 15.25 6,000 6,000
2011-2015 19.10.18 21.07 18,850 18,850
2012-2016 20.10.19 16.87 60,100 -

166,475 112,631

As far as the balance sheet treatment of IFRS 2 is concerned, the stock 
option programme is classified as “equity-based”, as the remuneration is 
always geared to subscription for shares. Share-based payment with genuine 
equity instruments must be measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received (direct measurement). As this cannot be determined 
reliably, the fair value of the equity instruments at the time they were 
granted (indirect measurement method using the option pricing model) 
must be used. 

The option pricing model applied was the Black-Scholes measurement 
model. The key parameters relating to the options granted in 2012 are an 
exercise price of EUR 16.87 (2011: EUR 21.07), volatility of 44.0 % (2011: 
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28. Provisions

The only provisions reported are “other provisions”. 

In addition to employee obligations of EUR 136,000 (previous year: 
EUR 135,000), non-current provisions mainly consist of removal and 
dismantling obligations of EUR 80,000 (previous year: EUR 68,000) and 
archiving expenses of EUR 73,000 (previous year: EUR 50,000). 

The current provisions consist of the following:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Shareholders’ meeting costs and annual report costs 103 103

Provision for bonuses/discounts 455 239

Provision for warranties and accommodation 462 324

Reporting and auditing costs 145 116
Other 232 166

1,397 948

The following table shows changes in the individual categories of provisions 
(including both non-current and current provisions) in the financial year 
2012:

As at
31.12.11

Utilisation
2012

Reversal 
2012

Addition  
2012

First-time 
consoli-
dation
2012

As at
31.12.12

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Personnel 135 - - 6 - 141
Customers and 
suppliers

563 136 106 597 - 918

Litigation 6 6 - 25 - 25

Other 557 364 9 478 5 667

1,261 506 115 1,106 5 1,751

29. Financial liabilities

The financial liabilities reported are liabilities to banks amounting to 
EUR 13,270,000 (previous year: EUR 15,512,000). These include liabilities 
falling due within one year amounting to EUR 1,874,000 (previous year: 
EUR 2,320,000). Total financial liabilities include secured liabilities to 
banks in the amount of EUR 4,468,000 (previous year: EUR 5,709,000).

30. Trade payables 

Of the reported trade payables amounting to EUR 1,547,000 (previous 
year: EUR 1,868,000), EUR 1,547,000 fall due within one year (previous 
year: EUR 1,868,000).

31. Other financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2012, there were other financial liabilities amounting to 
EUR 3,097,000 (previous year: EUR 1,846,000).

Of the above sum, EUR 455,000 is accounted for by obligations arising 
from finance leases (previous year: EUR 357,000), of which EUR 241,000 
falls due in more than one year (previous year: EUR 221,000). Non-current 
liabilities also include liabilities within the framework of silent participa-
tions amounting to EUR 700,000 (previous year: EUR 700,000). Current 
financial liabilities still mainly consist of liabilities to equity holdings in the 
amount of EUR 1,215,000 (previous year: EUR 0).

The fair value of the plan assets developed as follows:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 273 218

Expected income from plan assets 11 9

Actuarial gains (+) / losses (-) -1 -5
Employer contributions 52 51
Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 335 273

The following parameters were used to measure the pension obligations and 
plan assets as at 31 December of each year and to estimate pension expenses 
in the relevant reporting period:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

% %

Actuarial interest rate 3.25 4.70

Expected income development 2.00 2.00

Expected pension development 2.00 2.00

Expected asset income 4.00 4.00

Pension expenses for each period can be broken down as shown below:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Costs of new pension entitlements in financial year 

Benefit entitlements 28 24
Accrued interest on pension entitlements 48 50

Expected income from plan assets -11 -9
Amortised net profit (-) / loss (+) 210 31
Pension expenses for period 275 96

The service cost and the amortised actuarial losses/gains are presented as 
personnel expenses, while the interest cost of the anticipated pension 
obligations less the expected income from plan assets is presented as a 
financial expense.

The actual income from plan assets is EUR 10,000 (previous year: 
EUR 4,000).

EUR 90,000 is expected to be paid into pension plans in the 2013 financial 
year. The payments comprise the planned remuneration on the one hand 
and payment of pension obligations on the other.

Figures for the current year and previous years for pension obligations, plan 
assets and empirical adjustments:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000

EUR 

,000
Present value of pension obligations 1,276 1,027 962 840 815
Fair value of plan assets 335 273 218 164 154

Performance obligations exceeding 

assets 941 754 744

 

676

 

661

Empirical increase (+) / decrease (-)  

in pension obligations 
209 26 101 5 4

Empirical increase (+) / decrease (-)  

in plan assets -1 -5 -3 -4 -3
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D. Other notes

35. Disclosures on financial instruments

Financial risks

The Nanogate Group is exposed to various financial risks in the course of its 
ordinary business. These include credit risks, liquidity risks and market 
risks (currency risks, interest rate risks). The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments in order to hedge against certain risks.

The objectives, methods and processes of the financial risk management 
system are described in the risk report section of the management report.

Default risk

The default risk arises from the danger that a contractual partner cannot 
fulfil its obligations in a transaction arising from a financial instrument and 
thereby causes financial losses in the Nanogate Group.

The amount of financial assets indicates the maximum default risk. If 
default risks are identifiable for financial assets, these risks are recognised by 
means of impairment charges.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that existing or future payment obligations cannot 
be settled due to a lack of available cash. It is managed centrally for the 
Nanogate Group. Cash is held to ensure solvency at all times and to enable 
the Group to meet all of its planned payment obligations as they fall due.

The following table gives details of the financial liabilities according to their 
maturity periods, based on their residual terms at the balance sheet date. 
The analysis relates to financial instruments only. These are undiscounted 
cash flows, and as such it is not possible to reconcile them with the sums 
included in the balance sheet.

Date: 31.12.2012 Date: 31.12.2011

Financial 
liabilities

Trade 
payables

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Financial 
liabilities

Trade 
payables

Other 
financial 
liabilities

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Up to 1 year 1,874 1,547 2,094 2,320 1,868 868

2 - 5 years 6,540 - 1,045 6,132 - 1,034

More than 5 years 5,211 - - 7,485 - 2

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows 
from a financial instrument due to changes in market prices. Market risk 
includes currency risk and interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis is a method of measuring risk. It enables an estimate to 
be made of potential losses to future income, fair values or the cash flows of 
instruments sensitive to market risks by simulating one or more hypotheti-
cal changes in interest rates, exchange rates, raw materials prices and other 
relevant market rates or prices in a given period.

We use sensitivity analysis as it enables reasonable risk estimates to be made 
on the basis of direct assumptions. In our risk estimate, we have assumed a 
parallel shift of 100 basis points in the yield curves for all currencies.

Of the reported other financial liabilities, EUR 2,071,000 fall due within 
one year (previous year: EUR 841,000).

32. Other liabilities

As at 31 December 2012, there were other liabilities amounting to 
EUR 2,239,000 (previous year: EUR 2,385,000), of which EUR 1,757,000 
fall due within one year (previous year: EUR 1,802,000). 

Non-current other liabilities comprise the special item for investment grants 
for non-current assets of EUR 180,000 (previous year: EUR 219,000) along 
with accruals and deferrals from interest advantages associated with loans of 
EUR 302,000 (previous year: EUR 364,000).

Other current liabilities mainly include personnel liabilities of 
EUR 1,422,000 (previous year: EUR 1,404,000), liabilities for sales tax and 
other taxes of EUR 199,000 (previous year: EUR 299,000) and social 
security liabilities of EUR 74,000 (previous year: EUR 54,000).

33. Deferred tax liabilities

The deferred tax liabilities solely relate to divergences between the IFRS 
balance sheet and the balance sheet prepared for tax purposes. The 
development and composition of deferred taxes are explained in section 
B. 13 “Income taxes”.

34. Obligations from finance leases 

This item includes obligations from finance leases for intangible assets, for 
technical plant and machinery, and for office and operating equipment. The 
terms of the finance leases entered into are between three and five years. The 
interest rates on which the individual agreements are based are between 
4.6 % and 9.7 % p.a. They are reported under other financial liabilities.

Liabilities from finance leases (present value):

2012 2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

With a remaining term of less than one year 214 136
With a remaining term of more than one year  

and up to five years 241 219
With a remaining term of more than five years - 2

455 357

The minimum lease payments from the agreements entered into are as 
follows:

2012 2011

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

With a remaining term of less than one year 238 163
With a remaining term of more than one year  

and up to five years 231 250
With a remaining term of more than five years - 2

469 415

Less as yet unrealised interest expenses -37 -58

Plus remaining lease liability 23 -

Present value of the minimum lease payments to be made 455 357
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Information on financial instruments by category

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of 
individual financial assets and liabilities for every category of financial 
instruments held in the Nanogate Group. 

Financial assets 2012 2011

31.12. 
2012

Amor-
tised
cost

Fair
value

31.12. 
2012

Amor-
tised
cost

Fair
value

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

Loans and receivables 
(including cash
and cash equivalents)

Financial assets
Non-current (solely loans) 44 44 - 193 193 -

Current 32 32 - 85 85 -

Trade receivables
Non-current - - - 10 10 -

Current 3,830 3,830 - 3,776 3,776 -

Cash and cash equivalents 11,653 11,653 - 8,957 8,957 -

Total loans and receivables 
(including cash
and cash equivalents) 15,559 15,559 - 13,021 13,021 -

Financial assets available for 
sale

Equity holdings not included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements - - - 847 847 -

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets  
non-current
Caps (mark-to-market) 3 - 3 25 - 25

Financial liabilities 2012 2011

31.12. 
2012

Amor-
tised
cost

Fair
value

31.12. 
2012

Amor-
tised
cost

Fair
value

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost

Financial liabilities 13,270 13,270 - 15,512 15,512 -

Other financial liabilities 
Non-current 700 700 - 700 700 -

Current 621 621 - 685 685 -

Trade payables 1,547 1,547 - 1,868 1,868 -

Total financial liabilities at 
amortised cost 16,138 16,138 - 18,765 18,765 -

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial liabilities
Non-current 
Derivatives (mark-to-market) 106 - 106 105 - 105

The sum of the positive carrying amounts corresponds to the Nanogate 
Group’s maximum default risk arising from financial assets. Financial 
instruments are classified as level one using the fair value hierarchy laid out 
in IFRS 7.27 A. 

Currency risk

Currency risk means that the value of a financial instrument can change as 
a result of exchange rate fluctuations. Both the Group’s sales and purchases 
are transacted essentially with companies based in the euro area. There is no 
material currency risk in these consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk is caused by the fact that the value of a financial 
instrument can change as a result of fluctuations in the market interest rate. 
The Nanogate Group is particularly exposed to interest rate risk for 
financial assets and liabilities falling due in more than one year.

The risk of changes in capital market interest rates gives rise to a fair value 
risk for fixed-income financial instruments, as fair values fluctuate in line 
with interest rates. Financial instruments at floating rates are exposed to 
cash flow risk, as interest payments can go up in future.

A sensitivity analysis was carried out for our floating-rate financial 
instruments as at year-end 2012. A hypothetical increase of 100 basis points 
or 1 percentage point p.a. in these interest rates as at 1 January 2012 would 
have increased earnings by EUR 87,000 as at 31 December 2012. 

Objectives of capital management

The objectives of capital management are to safeguard liquidity, thereby 
ensuring the continued existence of the company, and to increase enterprise 
value sustainably while earning an adequate return on equity. The 
Management Board regularly reviews various performance indicators 
relating to Nanogate’s capital base against the financial strategy drawn up 
for the company. Key financial indicators include leverage, gearing (static 
and dynamic) and the equity ratio. Performance targets include reducing 
the cost of capital as well as optimising the capital structure and cash flows 
from financing activities.

Equity and the financial liabilities are listed in the following table:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Equity 33,542 28,070

Share of total capital 55.3 % 49.8 %

Non-current financial liabilities 12,422 14,197

Current financial liabilities 3,945 3,161

Financial debt total 16,367 17,358

Share of total capital 27.0 % 30.8 %
Total capital 60,641 56,343

Risk management

In view of the persistent market and industry situation in the nanotechnol-
ogy sector, the company’s risk and opportunity policy is geared particularly 
towards the achievement and safeguarding of long-term profitable growth. 
For this to be achieved, prompt and timely reactions to the changing 
market conditions are essential.

The Nanogate Group’s risk management consists of several interlocking 
planning, monitoring and information systems.

These encompass every area and segment of the company, including the 
portfolio companies, and are adjusted constantly to the changing 
underlying conditions.
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Base Technologies

The Base Technologies segment essentially comprises the existing business 
activities in the area of surface enhancement. The segment comprises much 
of the Group’s existing portfolio of conventional applications in the areas of 
sport/leisure and buildings/interiors.

Advanced Technologies

The Advanced Technologies segment focuses on applications with especially 
strong sales and revenue potential. Among other things, this segment covers 
the areas of energy efficiency and innovative plastics, with a focus on 
glazing applications.

2012 Base
Technologies

Advanced
Technologies

Total of
segments 

Reconcilia-
tion GroupSegment information 

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Segment revenue 
(external) 16,125 22,094 38,219 - 38,219

Segment revenue 
(internal) 2,949 973 3,923 -3,923 -

Segment EBIT 1,758 1,589 3,347 -624 2,723

Key income and  
expense items

Personnel expenses

 
 

4,643

 
 

7,757

 
 

12,400

 
 

1,337

 
 

13,737

Depreciation/
amortisation 1,132 1,351 2,483 439 2,922

2011 Base
Technologies

Advanced
Technologies

Total of
segments 

Reconcilia-
tion GroupSegment information 

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Segment revenue 
(external) 16,979 16,265 33,244 - 33,244

Segment revenue 
(internal) 1,343 180 1,523 -1,523 -

Segment EBIT 1,735 340 2,075 -1,084 991

Key income and  
expense items

Personnel expenses 5,465 5,943

 
 

11,408

 
 

780

 
 

12,188

Depreciation/
amortisation 1,265 857 2,122 380 2,502

Segment revenue (internal) shows the sales generated between segments. 
The prices for intra-Group sales are determined by the market (arm’s length 
principle).

The following table shows the reconciliation with the operating result 
(EBIT). The reconciliation eliminates intra-Group items as well as income 
and expenses not directly attributable to the segments.

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Operating result of reporting segments 3,347 2,075

Reconciliation -624 -1,084

Operating result (EBIT) 2,723 991

Net financial result -1,314 -1,302
Earnings before taxes 1,409 -311

Expenses, income, gains and losses from financial instruments have been 
assigned to the following categories:

2012
Loans
and

receivables

Financial 
assets

available
for sale

Assets
at fair value

through
profit or loss

Liabilities
measured

at amortised 
cost

Liabilities
at fair value

through
profit or loss

Total 
2012

 EUR 
,000 

 EUR 
,000 

 EUR 
,000 

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

Interest income 15 - - - 5 20

Interest expenses - - - -797 -34 -831

Income from equity 
investments

- - - - - -

Changes in fair value - - -9 - -1 -10

Impairment expenses -399 - - - - -399

Income from 
write-backs - - - - - -

Gain/loss on disposals 
(+ gain, - loss) - - - - - -

Other financial 
expenses and 
income
(+ gain, - loss)

- 
131

 
- 
-

 
- 

-13

 
44 

-41

 
- 
-

 
44 
77

Net result from 
continuing 
operations

 
 

-253

 
 
-

 
 

-22

 
 

-794

 
 

-30

 
 

-1,099

2011
Loans
and

receivables

Financial 
assets

available
for sale

Assets
at fair value

through
profit or loss

Liabilities
measured

at amortised 
cost

Liabilities
at fair value

through
profit or loss

Total 
2011

 EUR 
,000 

 EUR 
,000 

 EUR 
,000 

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

Interest income 72 - - - 9 81

Interest expenses - - - -758 -36 -794

Income from equity 
investments

- - - - - -

Changes in fair value - - -40 - -43 -83

Impairment expenses -1,153 - - - - -1,153

Income from 
write-backs - - - - - -

Gain/loss on disposals 
(+ gain, - loss) - - - - - -

Other financial 
expenses and 
income
(+ gain, - loss)

 
 
 

10

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

-87

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

-77

Net result from 
continuing 
operations

 
 

-1,071

 
 
-

 
 

-40

 
 

-845

 
 

-70

 
 

-2,026

Net result from 
discontinued 
operations 
(HOLMENKOL AG)

 

 
-

 

 
-

 

 
-

 

 
-370

 

 
-

 
 

-370

36. Segment reporting

In the year under review, the Group modified its segment reporting in order 
to bring it into line with its ongoing strategic development. The figures for 
the previous year were adjusted accordingly.

Dividing the segments into Base Technologies and Advanced Technologies 
corresponds to the structure of internal reports (“management approach”) 
to the Management Board as the main decision-making authority. Internal 
performance measurement for the segments is primarily carried out by 
means of the operating result (before interest income and expenses and 
before income taxes) and personnel expenses per segment.
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Payments of EUR 811,000 under leases and sub-leases were recognised as 
expenses in the reporting period in accordance with IAS 17.35 (previous 
year: EUR 656,000).

39. Significant events after the balance sheet date 31 December 2012

Acquisition

At the beginning of January 2013, the Group acquired a further 41 % of 
the shares in Plastic-Design GmbH. Nanogate AG consequently has a 76 % 
equity holding in this company.

In total, this acquisition has the following preliminary impact on the 
consolidated financial statements:

Fair value 

 EUR ,000

Goodwill 2,514

Customer relationships 491

Technologies 2,137

Other intangible assets 142

Property, plant and equipment 1,505

Inventories 2,618

Trade receivables and other receivables 1,262

Cash and cash equivalents 138

Deferred tax assets 621

Total of assets acquired 11,428

Pension provisions -354

Other provisions -418

Financial liabilities -339

Trade payables and other liabilities -4,636

Deferred tax liabilities -1,246

Total of liabilities acquired -6,993

Net assets acquired 4,435

Purchase prices 4,435

of which paid for with cash and cash equivalents 3,285

of which purchase price liability 1,150

The purchase price obligation includes a contingent consideration of 
EUR 400,000 as a future payment to the former shareholder of Plastic-
Design GmbH. Insofar as the acquired company is awarded written orders 
for specific volumes in the years 2013 to 2015, the purchase price shall be 
revised upwards to an undiscounted maximum value of EUR 500,000. The 
fair value of this contingent consideration has been set at the discounted 
expected value.

The purchase price allocation for intangible assets has not yet been 
completed and their measurement is therefore based on provisional figures.

The costs directly attributable to the acquisition of a 76 % equity holding in 
Plastic-Design GmbH amount to EUR 288,000; they have been recognised 
as expenses.

40. Number of employees

Employees (average for the year):

2012 2011

Blue-collar employees 177 159

White-collar employees 59 69

236 228

Apprentices 7 6
243 234

Information about geographical areas

External sales by region are shown as follows:

2012 2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Gross revenue: Germany 20,778 20,366

 Abroad *) 17,706 13,125

38,484 33,491
less: Sales deductions -265 -247
 Overall Group 38,219 33,244

 *) of which in

 European Union 15,271 11,481

 Other countries 2,435 1,643

17,706 13,125

Further intersegmental information is not disclosed, as calculating it would 
involve unreasonable costs and any data generated would not contribute 
significantly to improving the presentation of the Group’s assets, financial 
and earnings position.

37. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows records the payment flows in the financial year 
in order to present information about the movements in the company’s cash 
and cash equivalents. A distinction is made between cash flows from operat-
ing, investing and financing activities.

Please refer to section B. 25 “Cash and cash equivalents” for a detailed 
breakdown of this item.

Cash flow from operating activities is determined using the indirect method 
by adjusting earnings before tax for non-cash expenses and income and 
changes in net current assets.

Cash flow from investing and financing activities is determined on a cash 
basis.

38. Other financial obligations

The Nanogate Group’s contractual obligations (operating leases) to third 
parties as at 31 December 2012 were as follows:

Due

< 1 year 2 - 5 years > 5 years Total
 EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000
Building rental agreement 621 2,365 1,274 4,260

Other rental/lease agreements 158 221 - 379

779 2,586 1,274 4,639

The previous year the following amounts were disclosed for operating leases:

Due

< 1 year 2 - 5 years > 5 years Total
 EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000

 EUR 

,000
Building rental agreement 579 1,740 1,662 3,981

Other rental/lease agreements 164 95 - 259

743 1,835 1,662 4,240

When determining the terms of the other financial obligations, the earliest 
possible termination periods were assumed for the indefinite rental and 
lease agreements.
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The annual average is calculated pro rata temporis for companies consoli-
dated for the first time or deconsolidated.

The members of the Management Board are not included in the average 
number of employees during the year.

At the balance sheet date, the Nanogate Group employed 246 staff 
(previous year: 242). There were seven apprentices at the end of the year 
(previous year: six).

41. Related party disclosures

Related parties within the meaning of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures are 
those persons or entities that have control, joint control with other entities, 
or significant influence over Nanogate AG.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are also related parties of 
Nanogate AG. Subsidiaries and joint ventures are also related parties for one 
another.

Related parties are also key management personnel, their close family 
members and companies over which these persons exercise control, joint 
control or significant influence.

The direct parent company is Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn. 
Its head office is in Germany.

Business transactions in 2012 and 2011 between Nanogate AG and its 
subsidiaries were eliminated in the course of consolidation and are not 
explained in these disclosures.

The following transactions with related parties were carried out in the 
reporting year:

Sale of goods
Services 
rendered

Services 
received

Loans granted

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

 EUR 
,000

Subsidiaries –  
not consolidated - 27 - 21 - 2 - 25

Subsidiaries –  
discontinued operations 
(HOLMENKOL AG) - 518 - - - - - 100

Associated companies - 6 47 64 - - - -

Other related parties - - - - 7 - - -

- 551 47 85 7 2 - 125

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Liabilities Receivables

31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000  EUR ,000

Subsidiaries – not consolidated - - - 413

Associated companies - - 55 1,119

Other related parties 31 - - -

31 - 55 1,532

Loans granted in the previous year were at rates of interest comparable to 
average market rates.

In the previous year, overdue receivables from FNP were written down by 
EUR 385,000. Overdue receivables owed by HOLMENKOL AG were also 
written down by EUR 1,119,000 in 2011. 

There were no other relationships with related parties not included in the 
consolidated financial statements in the financial year 2012. There were no 
major transactions with other companies or related parties having a 
significant influence over the Nanogate Group in the reporting period. 

Shares and stock options held by the boards of Nanogate AG 

As at the respective balance sheet date, board members held the following 
shares and stock options in Nanogate AG either directly or indirectly:

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

No. of 
shares

No. of 
options 

No. of 
shares

No. of 
options 

Management Board

Michael Jung 38,801 35,400 38,801 18,859

Daniel Seibert - 10,000

Ralf M. Zastrau 59,627 35,200 59,627 20,641

Supervisory Board

Oliver Schumann 3,150 6,125 3,250 6,125

Dr. Farsin Yadegardjam 5,438 3,937 5,438 3,937

Gerhard Asschenfeldt 3,000 - 3,000 -

Dr. Clemens Doppler 2,000 - 2,000 -

Dr. Alain Georges (since 19.06.2012) 1,000 -

Marc Faber (until 19.06.2012) 4,092 -

Hartmut Gottschild 3,750 - 3,750 -

The shares/options held by members of the Supervisory Board were 
purchased privately.

Remuneration of employees in key positions

The members of the Management Board and other employees in key 
positions at Nanogate AG and its subsidiaries received current payments 
during the financial year amounting to EUR 815,000 (previous year: 
EUR 956,000) in 2012.

In addition, employees in key positions were granted equity compensation 
benefits in relation to the existing stock option programmes in 2012. In this 
respect, 50,100 options were granted as management remuneration. As at 
31 December 2012, the fair value per option was EUR 7.67. Personnel 
expenses amounting to EUR 55,000 were recorded in the 2012 financial 
year due to the issue of stock options to the management and as a result of 
the exercising of stock options held. 

42. Company boards

Supervisory Board of Nanogate AG

Oliver Schumann, Bad Soden, Chairman of the Supervisory Board; 
partner at European Co-Investment Partners.

Dr Farsin Yadegardjam, Roßdorf, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, full-time member of the Management Board of EVP Capital 
Management AG.

Gerhard Asschenfeldt, Bad Homburg, management consultant.

Dr Clemens Doppler, Heidelberg, Managing Partner at HeidelbergCapital 
Private Equity Fund, Heidelberg.

Marc Faber, Bertrange, Luxembourg, Senior Investment Partner at BIP 
Investment Partner SA, Luxembourg (until 19 June 2012).
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Hartmut Gottschild, Aalen, management consultant.

Dr Alain Georges, Luxembourg/Luxembourg, management consultant 
(as of 19 June 2012).

The members of the Supervisory Board received remuneration totalling 
EUR 75,000 (previous year: EUR 80,000).

Management Board

Ralf M. Zastrau, Saarbrücken, degrees in business studies and business IT, 
MBA; full-time Chairman of the Management Board of Nanogate AG, 
Quierschied-Göttelborn, Managing Director of Nanogate Industrial 
Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, and Managing Director of 
Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands.

Michael Jung, Riegelsberg, degree in engineering; full-time member of the 
Management Board of Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn, and COO 
of GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd.

Daniel Seibert, Rüsselsheim, degree in business studies, full-time member 
of the Management Board of Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn (as of 
1 May 2012).

No loans or advances were made to members of the company boards.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, 12 April 2013

Nanogate AG

Ralf M. Zastrau Michael Jung Daniel Seibert
Chairman of the  Member of the  Member of the  
Management Board/ Management Board/ Management Board/
CEO COO CFO
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Auditors’ report

Auditors’ report

To Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttel-
born, Germany, comprising the statement of income and statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of financial position, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the Group management report for the financial year 
from 1 January to 31 December 2012. It is the responsibility of the company’s statutory representatives 
to prepare the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report in accordance with 
IFRS as applicable in the EU. Our responsibility is to express an opinion of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 317 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German generally accepted standards for the audit of 
financial statements promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements 
materially affecting the presentation of the assets, financial and earnings position in the consolidated 
financial statements and in the Group management report in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 
and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 
control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes an assessment of the annual financial statements of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements, the definition of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the 
statutory representatives, as well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any objections.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with 
the legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the assets, financial and earnings position of the 
Group in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU. The Group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and altogether provides a correct view of the Group’s position 
and correctly presents the opportunities and risks for future development.

Regensburg, Germany, 12 April 2013

CM Treuhandgesellschaft Regensburg mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Mehltretter 
Auditor
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Selected key figures of Nanogate AG

Nanogate AG

The following refers to Nanogate AG (in accordance with HGB, figures in EUR ,000)

2012
Sales 3,845
Overall performance 5,947
EBITDA 538
Operating result (EBIT) 154

Income from investments 1,659
Net financial result -575

Earnings before taxes 1,238

One-off earnings* 1,120
Net income/loss 2,318

Balance sheet total 35,217
Balance sheet profit 2,318
Equity 23,170
Equity ratio (%) 65.8
Cash and cash equivalents 6,883

* Accounting profits realised in the course of restructuring the holding company.

Due to the restructuring of the holding company, the values for 2011 can no longer be used for 
comparison. As a result, these values have not been provided.

 Overview of separate financial statements as per HGB
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Contact / Imprint

Contact:

Imprint:

Nanogate AG
Zum Schacht 3
D-66287 Quierschied-Göttelborn, Germany
Telephone:  +49 (0)6825-9591-0
Fax:  +49 (0)6825-9591-852
E-mail: info@nanogate.com
www.nanogate.com
http://twitter.com/nanogate_ag

Contact for Investor Relations
Cortent Kommunikation AG
Christian Dose
Telephone:  +49 (0)69-5770300-0
Fax:  +49 (0)69-5770300-10
E-mail: nanogate@cortent.de 

The annual report of Nanogate AG is available in German and English.
The German Version is legally binding.

Resonsible:  Nanogate AG
Text:  Cortent Kommunikation AG
Translation: EnglishBusiness AG 
 www.englishbusiness.de
Design &  
Production: IDEEN! Netzwerk und Ottweiler Druckerei und Verlag GmbH
Photos:  Nanogate AG



Veredelte Automobilkomponente

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

With innovative surface technologies, you can develop new material 
concepts and push the limits of design. With creativity and high tech, 
you can produce perfected classics, such as the Meister Chronometer 
made by Junghans.

GREATER SCOPE 
FOR CREATIVITY
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Nanogate AG
Zum Schacht 3, 66287 Quierschied-Göttelborn, Germany
Telephone +49 (0)6825-9591-0, Fax: +49 (0)6825-9591-852

E-mail: info@nanogate.com
www.nanogate.com

Annual Report 2012
A world of new surfaces


